"IF HE DIES, HE DIES"

WHAT HAS CHANGED SINCE THE BROOK HOUSE INQUIRY?

December 2023



Medical Justice working for health rights for detainees

MEDICAL JUSTICE

Medical Justice is the only charity in the UK to send independent clinicians into all the Immigration Removal Centres (IRCs) across the UK. Our medical reports document the physical and mental scars of torture, serious medical conditions, deterioration of health in detention, injuries sustained during violent removal attempts and challenge instances of medical mistreatment. We receive over 500 referrals for people in detention each year. Our evidence base is sizeable, unique and growing.

We help clients access competent lawyers to harness the strength of the medical evidence we generate. Evidence from our casework is the platform for our research into systemic failures in healthcare provision, the harm caused by these shortcomings, as well as the toxic effect of immigration detention itself on the health of people in detention. Our casework evidence guides our policy work and strategic litigation to secure lasting change.

The British Medical Association believes that the use of detention should be phased out; Medical Justice agrees. The only way to eradicate endemic healthcare failures in immigration detention is to end immigration detention.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This report was researched and written by Ariel Plotkin and Idel Hanley, with research assistance from Hannah Chambers and Elspeth Macdonald and input from Theresa Schleicher and Emma Ginn. Clinical oversight was provided by Dr Rachel Bingham and Dr Liz Clark.

Medical Justice is grateful to its caseworkers for their invaluable knowledge and insights from their casework and to its clinicians for their tireless clinical work completing medico-legal reports for Medical Justice clients.

Medical Justice would like to thank all its clients who took part in interviews and who gave their time and consent for their information to be used in this report and in its research.

A note on the title of this report

The quote on the front page *"if he dies, he dies"* was used by guards in 2017 undercover footage disclosed to the Brook House Inquiry. The justification that this was part of the culture and a joke was found by the Inquiry to be *"not only callous and unacceptable but betrays the extent of desensitisation to detained people's health issues and vulnerabilities, and the dehumanisation of detained people by some staff"*.¹

Company Registration No. 6073571 Registered charity No. 1132072 General enquiries: <u>info@medicaljustice.org.uk</u> Website: <u>http://www.medicaljustice.org.uk/</u> Phone: 020 7561 7498 Fax: 08450 529370 Copyright © Medical Justice 2023 Front cover illustration © Lucy Edkins

"If he dies, he dies": What has changed since the Brook House Inquiry?' is published in December 2023 by Medical Justice.

¹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, page 232 paragraph 57.

FORWARDS

Medical Justice Client

In detention, it felt like human beings were just numbers. I don't think detention is any place for a human being and it's not a solution. We are human. We have families. The best value in life is freedom.

I was in detention for 10 months. It felt like prison. I had no one to talk to, I had no fresh air. The only fresh air was air that came under the door to my cell. My toilet was inside my cell, it was like a proper prison cell. Staying between four walls all the time makes you crazy. I was scared. It's bad for your mental health when you are locked down and not allowed to go outside. People were banging on the walls. It is really hard thinking about what a bad period it was in my life. I wasn't sleeping. I was scared for my life the whole time and wasn't given regular accurate information about what was happening in my case.

The staff did not seem to have much concern. When I tried to let people know how I was feeling, I got the impression that healthcare staff just wanted to cover it up and pass it along. I felt that I had to reach rock bottom before my mental health was taken seriously.

Now I am getting compensation for unlawful detention. When I was in detention there were barriers to removal, so they would not have been able to deport me, but they still kept me in there for 10 months.

The Lord German OBE

Hidden Spaces in our society is how the Brook House Inquiry report describes places of immigration detention. The state has responsibility for the people in its care who are detained in these hidden spaces. The shocking findings of the Brook House Inquiry illustrate that we are failing in this responsibility – to ensure the welfare and protection of some of the most vulnerable people in our society. This is not a case of a 'bad apple' within a system but of systemic failure, without proper accountability, transparency and robust monitoring of contractors.

This report by Medical Justice gives little confidence that treatment of those in immigration detention has improved since the circumstances that led to the Brook House inquiry were revealed.

There is now independent evidence that the state is unable to properly protect and care for those in immigration detention. It is deeply concerning that despite significant opposition, the Government will be expanding the immigration estate through the Illegal Migration Act. Such an approach is irresponsible and will leave many more people – including children, at risk of suffering the same kinds of abuse and harm uncovered not only at Brook House, but across the detention estate. We must hold the Government to account; we need to continue to shed light, ask questions, pursue answers and action so that these hidden spaces are not allowed to be places where fellow human beings are treated in such an appalling manner.

CONTENTS

Medical Justice Acknowledgements Forwards Executive Summary Glossary of terms		2 2 3 5 7			
			1.	Introduction	9
				Medical Justice Key Findings	10
				Methodology	12
			2.	Vulnerabilities in Immigration Detention	13
	2.1 Histories of trauma, torture and trafficking	14			
	2.2 High prevalence of detained people with mental health problems	15			
	2.3 Levels of mental health deterioration and harm caused by detention	16			
	2.4 Self-harm and suicidality in detention	17			
3.	Healthcare	20			
	3.1 Delivering healthcare: Inquiry and Medical Justice Evidence	20			
4.	Detention safeguards	26			
	4.1 The safeguarding system: the policy and legal framework	26			
	4.2 Clinical and custodial safeguards: Inquiry and Medical Justice Evidence	27			
5.	Use of Force	50			
	5.1 Use of force: Inquiry and Medical Justice findings	50			
	5.2 Further external evidence	52			
6.	Segregation	54			
	6.1 Segregation: Inquiry and Medical Justice findings	54			
	6.2 Further external evidence	57			
7.	Conclusion	58			
8.	Recommendations	59			

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report, based on clinical evidence from 66 clients detained in Immigration Removal Centres (IRCs) between June 2022 and March 2023, demonstrates how unsafe and harmful immigration detention can be. It shows how the detention of a population with high rates of vulnerabilities, in a prison environment creates a serious risk of harm. People suffer through damage to their mental health, inadequate safeguarding and healthcare, experiences of the use of force and clinically inappropriate use of segregation.

It provides an analysis of the Brook House Inquiry's report, the first public inquiry into immigration detention. The Inquiry found how the dangerous use of force, a wholesale failure of safeguards and a culture of dehumanisation led to 19 instances of inhuman or degrading treatment, breaching Article 3 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR), within a 5-month period at Brook House IRC.

Medical Justice have been and continue to present clinical evidence of harm and dysfunctional safeguards to the Home Office. This report is the latest iteration of this work, which has stretched back over the past 18 years.

All the failings documented in this report have taken place after the Inquiry's public hearings, across the detention estate. 2

This research has found that of the case set of 66 clients:

- 84% had evidence of a history of torture and/or trafficking.
- 95% had a diagnosis of at least one mental health condition, with a high proportion diagnosed with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) or some trauma-related symptoms such as flashbacks and nightmares, and/or depression.
- There are alarmingly high suicide risk levels amongst the clients analysed for this report: 74% of the clients in the case set were recorded as having self-harmed, suicidal thoughts and/or attempted suicide in detention. 13 out of the 66 people in the case set attempted suicide and 17 self-harmed in detention.
- There were instances of healthcare failing to identify or to provide adequate treatment in detention for particular mental health conditions, such as PTSD.
- The clinical safeguards in detention Rules 34 and 35 of the Detention Centre Rules 2001 are not functioning effectively to identify, protect and route out those at risk of harm, suicide and/or self-harm and those who have a history of torture. The Home Office is failing to release vulnerable people from detention, when brought to their attention through Rule 35.

² Although no clients detained at Dungavel IRC were part of the 66 in this audit, Medical Justice knows from its continuous monitoring and documenting of the experiences of clients in detention - including Dungavel IRC - that these issues occur across the detention estate.

- Assessment Care in Detention and Teamwork (ACDT), including constant watch, remain custodial tools for staff to *"manage"* the risk of suicide and self-harm in detention. Neither processes are therapeutic or clinical, nor are they sufficient to deal with those who are actively suicidal or at risk of suicide or self-harm. These processes are not connected to the safeguards in the Rule 35 process.
- Seven people out of 66 in the case set were subjected to use of force and/or restraints in detention; three of whom had injuries attributed to the force used on them requiring medical treatment, documented by the Medical Justice clinician.
- Fourteen out of 66 in the case set were put in segregation during their detention, one of whom was assessed as lacking mental capacity by the Medical Justice clinician. Segregation severely impacted those detained there, including increased suicidal thoughts, self-harming episodes in response and a deterioration in their mental state.

The Brook House Inquiry unequivocally places responsibility on the Home Office, urging action at the highest levels of government. There has been a failure to learn lessons from previous reviews; such a failure is described by the Inquiry's Chair as a *"dark thread"* throughout her report. The Home Office publicly state their commitment to learning lessons to ensure that the mistreatment uncovered in Brook House never happens again.³ Yet, such abuse can only be avoided if there is meaningful change – which has been sorely lacking after previous investigations and reviews. The Inquiry made 33 recommendations which need to be urgently addressed.⁴

The Home Office do not seem to acknowledge the severity of harm ongoing in detention and turns a blind eye to the failures over which it presides. They suggest that these are issues of the past.⁵ This ignores the important findings of the Inquiry that many of the factors which allow for mistreatment to occur, are unchanged to date. The Inquiry reached these conclusions after hearing evidence from current Home Office, custodial and healthcare staff and reviewing recent reports from His Majesty's Inspectorate of Prisons (HMIP), the Independent Chief Inspector of Borders and Immigration (ICIBI) and the Independent Monitoring Board (IMB).

This research demonstrates how many of the issues in the Inquiry are still ongoing today, across the detention estate. Action could not be more urgent as the government plans to significantly expand detention and implement the provisions of the Illegal Migration Act, knowing the harm that is still being caused. This ongoing harm since the Brook House Inquiry, is apparent from our evidence, two deaths in detention this year reportedly by suicide, and the continuing failures in the Home Office safeguards.

³ The Home Office (19 September 2023) <u>The Book House Inquiry: Home Office Statement</u>.

⁴ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, page 374 paragraph 88.

⁵ The Home Office (19 September 2023) <u>The Book House Inquiry: Home Office Statement</u>.

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

ACDT: Assessment Care in Detention and Teamwork is a national level policy to identify detained people at risk of self-harm and/or suicide and their care needs.

'Adults at Risk' Policy: Statutory Guidance and further executive policy on determining whether a person is vulnerable (an 'Adults at Risk') and whether they ought to be released from detention because of their vulnerability to suffering harm in detention. Its stated purpose is to protect vulnerable people who may be at increased risk of harm in detention. The guidance states that vulnerable individuals or 'adults at risk' should not normally be detained and can only be detained when 'immigration factors' outweigh their indicators of risk.

Constant Watch: A detained person can be put on constant supervision "to reduce a serious risk of them carrying out acts of self-harm or other behaviours which could lead to them accidentally or intentionally killing themselves".¹ Constant watch is an extreme measure for those in immediate and acute risk of suicide. Crucially it is a member of custodial staff, not healthcare, who remains with the detained person.

DCR 2001: Detention Centre Rules 2001. This is the statutory framework for the management indefinite immigration detention. The Rules span all aspects of the regulation of IRCs including use of force, segregation, access to healthcare and safeguarding responsibilities.

Healthcare screening: Initial screening by a nurse or healthcare assistant, usually within 2 hours of arriving at the IRC.

IRC: Immigration Removal Centre.

IRC Healthcare: The healthcare team is responsible for the provision of healthcare for those held in Immigration Removal Centres and is commissioned by NHS England. The IRC healthcare team provides primary care and some secondary mental healthcare. Note that psychiatrists are not always available in every IRC, and work on a part-time basis.

IRC staff: Custodial staff in Immigration Removal Centres.

Medico Legal Reports (MLRs): These are detailed reports written by independent clinicians at Medical Justice, which provide evidence for asylum cases and other legal decisions. This may include details of the person's physical and mental health, examination findings, forensic assessment of scars and psychological consequences of ill treatment or torture, consideration of the impact of detention on the person's health, and identification of unmet health needs.

Part C procedures: This is an internal process which involves the completion of a document titled IS91RA Part C which may be filled out by any member of IRC staff and those working in IRC healthcare to report information concerning a detained person to the Home Office.

Rule 34 (of Detention Centre Rules 2001): The legal requirement contained in the Detention Centre Rules 2001 for detained people to be offered an appointment with a GP at the IRC within 24 hours of arrival to provide a review of their physical and mental health needs.

Rule 35 (of Detention Centre Rules 2001): This is a mechanism which aims to ensure that particular groups are brought to the attention of the Home Office who has the direct responsibility for reviewing detention. These are people whose health is likely to be worsened by detention - Rule 35(1), people in respect of whom there is concerns that they may have suicidal intentions— Rule 35(2), or people who may have been a victim of torture - Rule 35(3). It is the primary safeguard for vulnerable individuals whose health would be injuriously affected by continued detention.

Rule 35 response letter: This is the letter drafted by a Home Office caseworker to reply to any Rule 35 report to explain the application of the adults at risk policy to the detained person's case and any decision concerning detention.

Rule 40 (of Detention Centre Rules 2001): Under Rule 40, a detained person can be held in segregation for an initial period of up to 24 hours, but this may be extended to a maximum of 14 days.¹

Rule 42 (of Detention Centre Rules 2001): Under Rule 42, a detained person can be held in segregation for up to 24 hours and this may be extended for up to 3 days after written direction from an officer of the Secretary of State.

1. INTRODUCTION

Medical Justice, as well as parliamentary bodies⁶, independent inspectorates⁷, and medical bodies⁸, have consistently raised the alarm over the severe harm caused by immigration detention. The high prevalence of mental health conditions and histories of torture, trafficking and/or other trauma in detained populations make them highly vulnerable to this harm. The Home Office continue to fail to effectively safeguard vulnerable people in detention.

Every day, our caseworkers and clinicians see the devastating impact detention has, due to inadequate healthcare, inhumane treatment, and ineffective safeguards which fail to identify and protect vulnerable people. These failures lead to the deterioration of vulnerable people's health, with an associated risk in self-harm and suicide attempts. Ultimately, the buck lies with the Home Office, who are responsible for detaining vulnerable people, including those who should not have been detained in the first place, and to quickly identify, safeguard and route them out of detention to protect them from further harm.

The Brook House Inquiry is the first public inquiry into the mistreatment of those detained under immigration powers and the conditions of that detention.⁹ The Inquiry was a unique opportunity to understand and uncover, in a public forum, the abuse and harm caused to people in detention. Set up by the then-Home Secretary in November 2019, the inquiry investigated the mistreatment of people detained at Brook House IRC, as uncovered by BBC Panorama.¹⁰

Due to our extensive experience of the clinical safeguarding failures and understanding of the inadequate healthcare provision in IRCs, Medical Justice was designated core participant status in the Inquiry.¹¹

The Brook House Inquiry, which published its findings on 19 September 2023, exposed the inexcusable and unconscionable dehumanising abuse of vulnerable people held in immigration detention by the Home Office. It found the safeguarding system to be *"dysfunctional"*, ¹² exposing vulnerable people to the risk of mistreatment and causing them actual harm. ¹³ It found a *"toxic culture"* ¹⁴ at Brook House, a *"breeding ground for racist views"* ¹⁵ and *"a culture of dehumanisation of detained people"*. ¹⁶ Healthcare staff were found to not understand their safeguarding obligations, with a tendency to view detained persons as "wilfully disobedient and obstructive, instead of countenancing the idea that behaviour may

⁶ For example, see Home Affairs Committee (21 March 2019) Immigration Detention: Fourteenth Report of Session 2017–19, House of Commons HC 913; Joint Committee on Human Rights (7 February 2019) Immigration Detention HC 1484, HL Paper 278.

⁷ For example, see reports by the <u>His Majesty's Inspectorate of Prisons</u> (HMIP), the <u>Independent Chief Inspector of Borders and Immigration</u> (ICIBI) and the <u>Independent Monitoring</u> <u>Board</u> (IMB).

⁸ For example, see Royal College of Psychiatrists (April 2021) Position Statement: The Detention of people with Mental Disorders in Immigration Detention PS02/21; British Medical Association (2017) Locked Up, Locked Out.

⁹ The Inquiry held public hearings over 46 days from 23 November to 10 December 2021, and from 21 February to 6 April 2022.

¹⁰ As a result of legal proceedings brought by someone who was subject to the mistreatment uncovered by the BBC, the Home Secretary was compelled to set up the Brook House Inquiry.

¹¹ Evidence was heard from detained persons, detention officers, healthcare providers, G4S employees (the private contractor responsible for Brook House IRC in 2017), Home Office officials, members of IMB and HMIP, non-governmental organisations and visitor groups. The Inquiry also appointed three experts to each address the use of force, institutional culture and clinical care provision and safeguards. It was also provided with documentary material and video footage from the BBC that was not broadcasted and from G4S CCTV and body-worn cameras.

¹² Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.1 page 3 paragraph 2.

¹³ The Inquiry found there were 19 incidents of credible breaches of Article 3 of the ECHR, which prohibits torture, inhuman and degrading treatment within a 5-month period.

¹⁴ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 182 paragraph 27.

¹⁵ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.9 page 244 paragraph 89.

¹⁶ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.9 page 252 paragraph 103.2.

be a manifestation of mental anguish or ill health."¹⁷ The Inquiry also criticised widespread instances of *"unnecessary", "inappropriate and excessive use of force"*.¹⁸

Medical Justice has a direct insight into, and clinical evidence of, ongoing issues in detention. This report further evidences the ongoing prevalence of people with vulnerabilities in detention, the continued systemic failures of the safeguarding system to identify, protect and route these people out of detention, the inadequate provision of healthcare in detention, and the continued misuse of force and segregation. Outside of the report findings, Medical Justice continues to see examples of the other key themes in the Inquiry such as the prisonisation, dehumanising attitudes, and a culture of disbelief in detention. Medical Justice has anecdotal information from clients of racist and derogatory language used in detention, reflecting the Inquiry's findings of detention being a *"breeding ground for racist views"*. It is important to note that that racism and racist abuse frequently remains hidden, unless exposed through video footage and whistle-blowers, such as was the case in the Inquiry. The risk of racism and racist abuse is inherent in immigration detention, particularly in a hostile political context where migrants are scapegoated, and dehumanising rhetoric used in politics and the media.

Our analysis supports the Brook House Inquiry findings and shows how what was uncovered in Brook House in 2017 is ongoing, across the detention estate. We have not seen evidence that there have been meaningful changes to Home Office policies and practices since 2017. Lessons have not been learnt and despite knowing the harm it causes, the government continues to indefinitely detain and harm vulnerable people, with plans for a large expansion of detention.

Medical Justice Key Findings

All the failings documented in this report by Medical Justice have taken place across the detention estate and after the Brook House public hearings. Detention continues to cause harm to already vulnerable people:

- People with histories and evidence of trauma, mental health problems, lack of mental capacity to make decisions about their immigration cases, and/or those who are age-disputed children, are being detained, putting them at high risk of harm every minute they are in detention.
- A high proportion of the case set (84%) had evidence of a history of torture and/or trafficking.
- Almost all (95%) of the clients in the study had a diagnosis of at least one mental health condition, with a high proportion diagnosed with PTSD or some trauma-related symptoms such as flashbacks and nightmares, and/or depression.
- There are alarmingly high suicide risk levels amongst the clients analysed for this report: 74% of the clients in the case set were recorded as having self-harmed, suicidal thoughts and/or attempted suicide in detention. 13 out of the 66 people in the case set attempted suicide and 17 self-harmed in detention.
- Medical Justice clinicians found very high levels of harm ¹⁹ and deterioration ²⁰ amongst clients.

¹⁷ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.11 page 325 paragraph 50.

¹⁸ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.11 page 321-322 paragraph 48.1.

¹⁹ Medical Justice assesses the risk of harm of detention by reviewing the impact of detention on a person's mental health and identifying symptoms of mental illness that can be attributed to detention. Clinicians also identify individuals as at risk of harm where they have mental health issues and cannot appropriately access treatment in the IRC or would more effectively access treatment in the community.

²⁰ When assessing whether detention has caused a deterioration in a client's health, Medical Justice clinicians consider not just the fact of incarceration, but also the features of detention as explained by the client, such as their separation from family and their community, and also their level of access to healthcare and treatment in detention.

Healthcare continues to fail to identify particular mental health conditions and to consistently provide adequate treatment. Analysis of the 66 clients in the case set found instances where:

- The IRC healthcare failed to identify or explore particular mental health conditions such as PTSD, and failed to assess or explore suspected lack of mental capacity.
- Healthcare was unable to or failed to provide adequate treatment in detention for mental health conditions such as PTSD and schizophrenia and for some physical health conditions.
- Those who lacked mental capacity to make decisions relating to their detention or immigration case were not identified in detention and there is still no process in place to enable them to access independent advocacy to advance their interests.
- There were examples indicative of a worrying culture of IRC healthcare including dehumanising language and behaviour, disbelief of clients' mental ill-health or around self-harm.

The clinical safeguards in detention – Rules 34 and 35 of the Detention Centre Rules 2001 – are not functioning effectively to identify, protect and route out those at risk of harm, suicide and/or self-harm and those who have a history of torture. This includes healthcare failures to implement the safeguards in practice and a lack of Home Office oversight to ensure compliance in practice:

- Almost half of the case set did not see an IRC GP within 24 hours of arrival in detention, as is the Home Office policy, and where they did, they rarely had a mental health assessment to identify any vulnerabilities that would make them unsuitable for detention.
- The safeguarding mechanism for IRC GPs to communicate an individual's risk of harm to the Home Office to review their detention (Rule 35) continues to be rarely used:
 - Very few Rule 35 (1) reports are being completed for those at risk of harm in detention and quite significant deterioration in their mental health or physical health issue has to occur before one is completed, if at all. This is despite the Rule being intended to be preventative and so no actual deterioration being required to trigger the reporting mechanism.
 - Very few Rule 35 (2) reports are being completed despite the high number of people experiencing suicidal thoughts. Even after people attempted suicide, they are rarely completed. Where reports are completed, the assessment is often inadequate and incomplete, for example missing information such as a suicide attempt.
 - A large number of Rule 35 (3) reports for torture survivors were completed but there were examples of failures to document or to adequately document scarring, a key element of the IRC GPs obligations in their documentation of the detained person's torture account for the Home Office.
- There is a disconnect between the different safeguards; those on ACDT for self-harm or suicide risk are not automatically assessed for the relevant Rule 35 report and therefore do not have their detention reviewed by the Home Office.

The Home Office fails to release vulnerable people, when brought to their attention through Rule 35:

- The Home Office took the decision to release very few people in relation to their Rule 35 report.
- Even when they did, most remained in detention for months after the decision to release them had been made.

Processes within detention often cause more harm:

- ACDT (including constant watch) remain custodial tools for staff to *"manage"* the risk of suicide and self-harm in detention. Neither processes are therapeutic or clinical, nor are they sufficient to deal with those who are actively suicidal or at risk of suicide or self-harm.
- Seven people out of 66 in the case set were subjected to use of force and/or restraints in detention; three of whom had injuries attributed to the force used on them requiring medical treatment, documented by the Medical Justice clinician.
- Fourteen out of 66 in the case set were put in segregation during their detention, one of whom was assessed as lacking mental capacity by the Medical Justice clinician. Segregation severely impacted those detained there, including increased suicidal thoughts, self-harming episodes in response and a deterioration in their mental state.

Methodology

This report analyses aggregate data from 66 Medical Justice clients, ²¹ referenced as the case set, who were selected on the basis that they had a medico-legal assessment by a Medical Justice clinician between 1 June 2022 and 27 March 2023 in an IRC, had their Medico-Legal Report (MLR) finalised at the time of data collection ²² and for whom Medical Justice had access to sufficient documentation. The documents reviewed included each client's IRC medical records ²³, and their Medical Justice MLR. Where available, Medical Justice also reviewed their Rule 35 report and the Home Office responses to their Rule 35 report. ²⁴ Where additional clinical information to the MLR was required, input was provided by Medical Justice clinicians. This report also draws on the organisation's continuous monitoring and documenting of the experiences of clients in detention.

This report includes analysis of the Brook House Inquiry's report. Supplementary information is included from responses to Freedom of Information requests and secondary sources, such as media reports and reports from HMIP and the IMB.

The anonymised case studies in this report are based on the experiences of six of the 66 clients in the case set, of whom four took part in semi-structured interviews conducted by Medical Justice. The clients featured in case studies have been given a different name to protect their identity.

At the time of their MLR assessment, of the 66 clients: 11 were detained in Yarl's Wood IRC, 12 in Harmondsworth IRC, 19 in Colnbrook IRC, 20 in Brook House IRC, one in Tinsley House IRC, and three in Derwentside IRC. None were detained at Dungavel IRC or any Short-Term Holding Facility (STHF).

Two clients were age disputed children²⁵ during this period of detention and both were detained at Colnbrook IRC. Three were women, who were all detained at Derwentside IRC and 61 were men.

²¹ The MLRs were finalised between 16 June 2022 and 12 June 2023. One person had two MLR assessments and two MLRs during the same detention episode.

 $^{^{\}rm 22}$ Data collection was completed at the end of July 2023.

 $^{^{\}rm 23}$ Medical records for each client for at least the period up to the point of MLR assessment.

²⁴ 11 individuals had more than one Rule 35 report in the same detention episode. Medical Justice had access to 65 Rule 35 reports that were completed by the IRC GP in detention for the individuals in this case set and 44 Home Office responses. One of the 44 responses available to Medical Justice was incomplete. The information available and included in Medical Justice's statistics were the Adult at Risk level and date of Home Office response.

²⁵ The two individuals report that they are under the age of 18 and are challenging the Home Office decisions that they are adults.

2. VULNERABILITIES IN IMMIGRATION DETENTION

Research has consistently shown that populations in immigration detention have a high prevalence of mental health conditions and histories of torture, trafficking and/or other trauma, which make them highly vulnerable to harm in detention.²⁶ Survivors of torture, trafficking and other trauma are at particular risk of harm, as immigration detention impedes recovery²⁷ and increases the risk of re-traumatisation.²⁸ These vulnerabilities are compounded by immigration detention.

People in detention have described a range of factors that contribute to this, including fear for their safety, the prison-like environment, the feelings of criminalisation, and experiences of physical and verbal abuse. All of these contribute to experiences of loss of agency, entrapment and feelings of hopelessness. In addition, the indefinite nature of detention and limbo of their legal status increase the harm of all of these factors. Unmet medical needs, language barriers and isolation can all add to, and further complicate, deteriorating health.

The Royal College of Psychiatrists' 2021 position statement on detention of people with mental disorders concludes that being detained in an IRC was likely to precipitate a significant deterioration of mental health in most cases.²⁹ It has been found that the *"only efficient way to improve the detainees' mental health is to release them from detention"*.³⁰

Those who lack mental capacity to make decisions about their immigration case and/or detention processes are at risk of suffering additional serious harm because of the lack of adjustments made for their needs in immigration detention.

Indeed, the Brook House Inquiry's findings further evidence the high level of vulnerabilities amongst those detained under immigration powers. It found there was a high prevalence of mental ill-health amongst the detained population. This includes people with high risks of self-harm and suicide, a significant number of victims of torture and other past trauma and vulnerability due to the loss of mental capacity. ³¹ The Inquiry found that this was not only the case during the relevant period, but also *"likely to still be the case"* today. ³²

The Inquiry, reflective of existing research, notes particular stressors associated with detention, including "the sudden nature of being detained, uncertainty and anxiety about the future, separation from social support and other coping mechanisms, and the highly stressful environment of detention, may exacerbate mental ill health. Detention can also be very disruptive to pre-detention medical care".³³

²⁶ See Verhülsdonk, I., Shahab, M., & Molendijk, M. (2021) <u>Prevalence of Psychiatric Disorders Among Refugees and Migrants in Immigration Detention: Systematic Review with</u> <u>Meta-analysis</u>, BJPsych Open 7(6); Bosworth M. (2016) Appendix 5: The Mental Health Literature Survey Sub-Review. Review into the Welfare in Detention of Vulnerable Persons: A Report to the Home Office; M von Werthern, K Robjant, Z Chui et al. (2018) <u>The Impact of Immigration Detention on Mental Health: A Systematic Review</u>, BMC Psychiatry 18; Royal College of Psychiatrists (April 2021) <u>Position Statement: The Detention of people with Mental Disorders in Immigration Detention</u> PS02/21.

²⁷ Faculty of Forensic and Legal Medicine (May 2019) Quality Standards for healthcare professionals working with victims of torture in detention.

²⁸ Helen Bamber Foundation, Medical Justice, Anti Trafficking and Labour Exploitation Unit and Focus on Labour Exploitation (2022) <u>Abuse by the system: Survivors of trafficking in immigration detention</u>.

²⁹ Royal College of Psychiatrists (April 2021) Position Statement: The Detention of people with Mental Disorders in Immigration Detention PS02/21.

³⁰ M von Werthern, K Robjant, Z Chui et al. (2018) The Impact of Immigration Detention on Mental Health: A Systematic Review, BMC Psychiatry 18: 382.

³¹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 178 paragraph 11.

³² Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 178 paragraph 11. ³³ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 178 paragraph 13.

Our analysis of 66 clients in detention further evidences the high level and range of vulnerabilities amongst people in immigration detention. We found that people with histories and evidence of trauma, mental health problems including PTSD, lack of mental capacity, and/or those who are age-disputed children, are being detained, putting them at high risk of harm every minute they are in detention.

2.1 Histories of trauma, torture and trafficking

The Inquiry highlighted that many detained people report a history of torture or serious ill treatment and for them, specific aspects of being detained, including the banging of cell doors and the jangling of keys, "may trigger powerful and traumatising memories of past experiences of ill treatment" which "not only often exacerbate pre-existing mental ill health but also may specifically elicit trauma-related symptoms such as nightmares and flashbacks".³⁴

Medical Justice consistently see that survivors of torture and trafficking are routinely detained, not identified and not routed out of detention. Of our case set of 66 people:

- 52 had evidence of a history of torture;
- 29 had evidence of a history of trafficking;
- 25 had evidence of a history of both torture and trafficking.

2.1.1 Evidence of torture: scarring

Scars often provide important evidence of a history of torture or other ill-treatment. As part of medicolegal assessments, Medical Justice clinicians document scarring³⁵ according to the *Istanbul Protocol Manual on the Effective Investigation and Documentation of Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment* (Istanbul Protocol).³⁶ The Istanbul Protocol provides internationally recognised guidance on documenting and identifying symptoms of torture, including evaluating scarring. This includes clinicians interpreting the degree to which scarring is consistent with accounts of torture, by assessing scarring using a range of terms with specific definitions in this context: not consistent, consistent, highly consistent, typical or diagnostic.³⁷

In the case set of 66 clients, 49 people had physical scarring documented either by a Medical Justice clinician in their MLR assessment and/or by the IRC GP in their Rule 35 (3) report.³⁸ It is important to note that not all forms of torture leave physical scars, so for torture survivors who did not have scarring, the absence of physical evidence of torture or ill-treatment does not mean that it did not take place.³⁹

³⁴ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 pages 178-179 paragraph 14.

³⁵ Medical Justice clinicians document scarring if relevant and when able to do face to face assessments.

³⁶ Office Of The United Nations High Commissioner For Human Rights, United Nations (2004) <u>The Istanbul Protocol: Manual on the Effective Investigation and Documentation of</u> <u>Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment</u>, Professional Training Series No. 8/Rev.1.

³⁷ The <u>Istanbul Protocol</u> defines "not consistent" as "the finding could not have been caused by the alleged torture or ill-treatment", "consistent" as "the finding could have been caused by the alleged torture or ill-treatment, but it is non-specific and there are many other possible causes", "highly consistent" as "the finding could have been caused by the alleged torture or ill-treatment, but it is non-specific and there are many other possible causes", "highly consistent" as "the finding could have been caused by the alleged torture or ill-treatment, but it is non-specific and there are many other possible causes", "topical" as "the finding is usually observed with this type of alleged torture or ill-treatment, but there are other possible causes" and "diagnostic" as "the finding could not have been caused in any way other than that described". See Office Of The United Nations High Commissioner For Human Rights, United Nations (2004) <u>The Istanbul Protocol: Manual on the Effective Investigation and Documentation of Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment</u>, Professional Training Series No. 8/Rev.1., paragraph 380.

³⁸ 41 had scarring documented in their Medico-Legal Report. 8 others had scarring documented in their Rule 35(3) report but did not have scarring documented in their Medico-Legal Report as the clinician was unable to comment on their physical scarring because it was either a remote medical assessment or it was a psychiatric Medico-Legal Report.

³⁹ The <u>Istanbul Protocol</u> states: "the absence of physical and/or psychological evidence of torture or ill-treatment, however, does not mean that it did not take place. Many factors may account for the absence of physical and psychological findings and documenting these factors can be useful in corroborating specific claims of torture or ill-treatment". See Office Of The United Nations High Commissioner For Human Rights, United Nations (2004) <u>The Istanbul Protocol</u>: Manual on the Effective Investigation and Documentation of <u>Torture and Other Cruel</u>, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, Professional Training Series No. 8/Rev.1. paragraphs 390 and 393.

In this study, 40 of the clients who had scarring documented in their MLR were found to have scarring which was medical evidence of torture (in Istanbul Protocol terminology, was at least *"consistent"* with torture, with a higher degree of consistency in many cases).⁴⁰

2.2 High prevalence of detained people with mental health problems

The Inquiry found that "[c]onditions such as depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), psychosis and substance abuse are more common in IRCs than in the community".⁴¹ It further highlighted that mentally ill people in detention "may be more vulnerable to losing mental capacity to make decisions about their medical care and treatment".⁴²

Owing to the ongoing high prevalence of mental health problems in detention, Medical Justice receives many referrals for clients with mental health concerns, reflected in this study. At the point of their medico-legal assessment with a Medical Justice clinician, of the 66 clients analysed, 63 had a diagnosis of at least one mental health condition and 38 were diagnosed with two or more mental health conditions.

These comprised of:

- 55 clients either had a diagnosis of PTSD or had some trauma-related symptoms while in detention, such as flashbacks and nightmares. Of the 55:
 - 34 clients were diagnosed with PTSD. Of those 34 people, two were also diagnosed with Complex PTSD and six had suspected Complex PTSD requiring further assessment;
 - 21 clients had trauma-related symptoms but either did not have all other symptoms meeting PTSD diagnostic criteria or required further assessment to establish this;
- 55 clients were diagnosed with depression and four others had some depressive symptoms;
- Seven clients were diagnosed with an anxiety disorder and 24 others had anxiety symptoms;
- 12 clients had psychotic symptoms such as delusions, hearing voices (auditory hallucinations), visual hallucinations, olfactory hallucinations, command hallucinations including instructions to kill themself, paranoid delusions, disorganised thinking, fixed or delusional beliefs, paranoid ideation, and lack of insight;
- Six clients were diagnosed with a psychotic illness, including schizophrenia;
- Two clients were diagnosed with bipolar disorder, one with acute stress reaction and one with a personality disorder;

⁴⁰ One person had scarring consistent with self-injury only and not mistreatment. Four of the 41 had scarring from both mistreatment and self-injury.

⁴¹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 178 paragraph 12.

⁴² Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 179 paragraph 15.

• One client had suspected memory/cognitive impairment, requiring further investigation, one had suspected learning difficulties and autistic spectrum disorder and one had possible acute stress reaction.

Having mental capacity to make a specific decision requires the individual to understand, weigh up information, retain the information and communicate information.

Four clients in the case set were determined by a Medical Justice clinician to lack mental capacity to make a particular decision. This included capacity to understand legal proceedings and provide instructions, to engage in the immigration process, to give evidence in court, to weigh up information, to trust others including a solicitor and have insight into their mental health diagnosis. This arose in the context of clients suffering from delusions, hallucinations, paranoia, or a psychotic disorder.

Three further clients were suspected to lack capacity but required further assessment. This included capacity to participate in their legal case, to make decisions concerning removal, to instruct a solicitor, and a mental state that may impair some of their judgements and decisions. This arose in the context of clients' variations in physical and emotional distress, a possible learning disability and possible autistic spectrum condition, and a client who was diagnosed with bipolar disorder.

There were also examples of other clients who would need to be treated as a vulnerable witness. This was because of clinicians' concerns that the person could be harmed by or unable to withstand aspects of the process of giving evidence in immigration proceedings, or that the person was not fit to be interviewed by the Home Office due to their mental state.

2.3 Levels of mental health deterioration and harm caused by detention

Medical Justice clinicians found extremely high levels of harm and deterioration caused by detention. Of the 66 cases analysed:

- Clinicians found that 64 of the clients they assessed had deteriorated ⁴³ in their mental state because of detention or features associated with detention. ⁴⁴
- All 66 clients were assessed as likely to deteriorate or deteriorate further if they remained in detention.
- Detention or features associated with detention caused harm to all 66 clients.⁴⁵ Detention was also found to be likely to cause further harm to all 66 if they remained in detention.

Our evidence shows both how people with pre-existing mental health conditions deteriorated in detention, how people developed new symptoms of mental health conditions that were caused by the detention setting, and how people developed suicidal thoughts.⁴⁶

⁴³ When assessing whether detention has caused a deterioration in a client's health, Medical Justice clinicians consider not just the fact of incarceration, but also the features of detention as explained by the client, such as their separation from family and their community, and also their level of access to healthcare and treatment in detention.

⁴⁴ The deterioration of the remaining two clients was assessed as unknown by Medical Justice clinicians. For one person it was unknown due to a lack of medical records at the time of the assessment which was done on an urgent basis. For the other, it was unknown as mental health symptoms continued when they were transferred from prison to detention.

⁴⁵ Medical Justice assesses the risk of harm of detention by reviewing the impact of detention on a person's mental health and identifying symptoms of mental illness that can be attributed to detention. Clinicians also identify individuals as at risk of harm where they have mental health issues and cannot appropriately access treatment in the IRC or would more effectively access treatment in the community.

 $^{^{\}rm 46}$ See for example Aaron's case study.

2.4 Self-harm and suicidality in detention

The Inquiry found that there is "a heightened risk of self-harm and suicide among those in immigration detention, and self-harm is a risk factor for both mental ill health and suicide. Self-harm may be a symptom of complex PTSD, personality disorder or other mental ill health".⁴⁷ This is reflected in the evidence to the Inquiry which included people who had self-harmed or been suicidal and those who were at risk of self-harm and suicide.

Medical Justice clinicians found alarmingly high suicide risk levels amongst the 66 clients analysed for this report. This indicates that these issues are ongoing across the detention estate. ⁴⁸ This corroborates existing research showing that detention can increase risk of suicide and self-harm. ⁴⁹

Medical Justice clinicians assessed that 43 clients' risk of suicide had increased since they had been detained. Clinicians expressed concern for a further 14 clients, assessing them as likely to have an increased risk of suicide if they remained in detention, even though the risk had not yet increased at the point of the assessment; this occurs because the risk of destabilisation does not reduce, but can increase, when people in this situation remain in detention.⁵⁰

49 of the 66 people in the study were recorded as having self-harmed, suicidal thoughts and/or attempted suicide in detention. 10 people both self-harmed and attempted suicide in detention.

One week after he was detained, **Edward** took a large and dangerous overdose of medication with the intention to take his own life. Edward told Medical Justice: "When I took the overdose, it was nighttime, I vomited a lot because I took too many at one time, and I had diarrhoea. The second [following] day, I was outside, and staff saw me, there was something different with my face, they asked what happened. I said I took an overdose. They called the manager and took me to my room, and they saw the packet of tablets. When the nurse saw the packet, they called the ambulance straight away." Edward was in hospital for 3 nights before being discharged back to the IRC. His medical records state that "healthcare staff were not aware of his discharged[sic] from the hospital and we are [sic] not having his discharge summary". This is very concerning considering the additional needs for care and monitoring of his suicide risk that Edward had following his discharge back to the IRC after an overdose.

2.4.1 Suicide attempts and suicidal thoughts

13 people were recorded in their MLR to have attempted suicide whilst in detention. Of those 13 people:

⁴⁷ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 178 paragraph 12.

⁴⁸ The proportion of Medical Justice's clients who have attempted suicide, suicidal thoughts and incidents of self-harm recorded is higher than the detention-wide statistics. This is because of Medical Justice's remit. Medical Justice's clients are some of the most unwell people in detention and are those in specific need of a medico-legal assessment and report.

⁴⁹ Royal College of Psychiatrists (April 2021) Position Statement: The Detention of people with Mental Disorders in Immigration Detention PS02/21, 18.

⁵⁰ In 7 cases, it was unknown from their Medico-Legal Report whether their risk of suicide changed or not.

- Three attempted suicide more than once in the same detention episode: Two people attempted suicide twice and one person attempted suicide three times;
- One person attempted suicide while on constant supervision (see <u>ACDT and constant watch</u>);
- Nine had their suicide attempt documented in their medical records. For three people, it was not recorded in their medical records at all.⁵¹

People attempted suicide in a range of scenarios including after receiving their Removal Directions, just before they were taken to the airport for removal from the UK, being informed by the Home Office that they will be deported, after being refused bail and after hearing that there was a mass suicide attempt taking place in the IRC.

The suicide attempts took place across the detention estate. Four attempted suicide at Brook House IRC, three at Yarl's Wood IRC, three at Colnbrook IRC, two at Harmondsworth IRC, and one at Tinsley House IRC.

Evidence of the level of suicidality across the detention estate has also been documented independently of Medical Justice evidence. In March 2023, Frank Ospina died by suicide in Colnbrook IRC. ⁵² Shortly after his death, an attempted *"mass suicide event"* occurred at the next door Harmondsworth IRC. ⁵³ In November 2023, an Albanian man is understood to have died by suicide in Brook House IRC. ⁵⁴

Aaron told Medical Justice how knowing about the level of suicide attempts at the IRC affected him. He told Medical Justice that IRC officers told him they dealt with seven people attempting suicide and in the middle of talking with him would say 'I have to go because someone did a suicide attempt' and had to run off. He said *"even knowing that, having that information, the feeling of death around you. It feels awful, terrible. I don't wish anyone to suffer like that. If they ask me to go again there [detention], I would rather try and kill myself".*

46 people were recorded in their MLR to have had suicidal thoughts in detention. However, a large number of our clients' suicide risk was not identified by healthcare. Of the 46 people with suicidal thoughts in detention, only 23 had their suicidal thoughts documented in their medical records. This lack of clinical identification of suicide risk is very concerning considering that this is one of three integral safeguarding and reporting obligations that healthcare has (see <u>Rule 35(2)</u>). ⁵⁵

Non-disclosure of self-harming suicidal thoughts may be one of the reasons for this.⁵⁶ Medical Justice has previously highlighted the need for the development of clinical relationships in detention to increase the willingness of people in detention to disclose to healthcare staff, who detained people may perceive to lack independence from the Home Office and detaining authorities.⁵⁷

⁵¹ For one of the three, they told the Medical Justice doctor they recently attempted suicide, but it was not recorded in their medical records. For the 13th person it is not known how it was documented as the available medical records did not cover that date.

⁵² Tom Symonds (14 September 2023) <u>Colombian migrant begged to be sent home - but died in UK detention</u> BBC News; Aaron Walawalkar (14 September 2023) <u>Revealed: 'Mass</u> <u>suicide attempt' at immigration centre after detainee death</u> Liberty Investigates.

⁵³ Aaron Walawalkar (13 September 2023) 'Attempted mass suicide' at Heathrow immigration centre after Frank Ospina death Open Democracy.

⁵⁴ Diane Taylor (18 November 2023) Investigations launched after death of Albanian man detained by Home Office. The Guardian.

⁵⁵ The other two being identifying and reporting risk of injurious harm and victims of torture (<u>Rule 35 (1)</u> and (<u>3)</u>).

⁵⁶ Royal College of Psychiatrists (July 2020) <u>Self-harm and Suicide in Adults</u> CR229 page 46.

⁵⁷ For more information, see Medical Justice (April 2022) <u>Harmed not Heard</u>.

2.4.2 Self-harm

17 people were recorded in their MLR to have self-harmed while in detention. These self-harm instances led to injuries, pains, scars, poisoning, weight loss and other physical harms.

Those who self-harmed were detained in Brook House IRC, Harmondsworth IRC, Yarl's Wood IRC, Colnbrook IRC, Derwentside IRC and Tinsley House IRC. This again shows the level of self-harm is not contained to one IRC.

Of the 17 people who were recorded to have self-harmed whilst in detention, 14 people had this documented in their medical records.

Home Office statistics on self-harm

The high levels of self-harm found by Medical Justice are also reflected in the Home Office's own statistics. In the same period covered by this research (June 2022 to March 2023), there were 255 documented incidents of self-harm across the IRCs. ⁵⁸ Of those, 202 incidents required on-site treatment and 12 required off-site treatment. ⁵⁹

These statistics may not reflect the true level of self-harm incidents, which is likely to be higher than those documented in IRCs by the Home Office due to non-disclosure to healthcare and/or custodial staff of self-harm or suicidal thoughts, as discussed above.

⁵⁸ This data refers to the number of incidents and does not necessarily equate to the number of individuals; some individuals may have had multiple self-harm incidents.
⁵⁹ This data is from Freedom of Information requests, obtained by Medical Justice, with reference numbers 76568, 72966, 75319 and 76239.

3. HEALTHCARE

It is particularly important to have good healthcare in circumstances where the state has removed a person's liberty and is placed in an environment which is known to be harmful. However, this is often not the case in detention. Health issues are not always identified, preventing the necessary treatment, and where health conditions are identified, the appropriate treatment is not always available. More fundamentally, the extent to which mental health care can be successfully provided in detention is limited, given that detention impedes stability, continuity of care and a holistic approach.⁶⁰ As the Royal College of Psychiatrists state *"the recovery model cannot be implemented effectively in a detention centre setting"*.⁶¹

IRC healthcare should play a leading role in identifying and diagnosing mental or physical health conditions that render someone vulnerable to harm in detention and should communicate this to the Home Office. (See <u>Safeguarding Framework</u>). If this does not take place, safeguards are not triggered for the most vulnerable people, and they are left to languish and deteriorate further in detention.

3.1 Delivering healthcare: Inquiry and Medical Justice Evidence

The Brook House Inquiry raised concerns about the provisions and delivery of healthcare services within detention, as well as the culture of IRC healthcare, which resonates highly with Medical Justice's experience and in the latest evidence collected for this report.

The Inquiry noted evidence regarding an inability to identify PTSD symptoms citing the Clinical Lead at Brook House who said that *"she was not confident her staff could identify symptoms of trauma and PTSD, and that neither she nor her staff had received any training on PTSD or torture awareness"*⁶²

On the provisions, the Inquiry found that despite the clear need for a full range of mental health interventions for people with histories of torture and trauma, and those with PTSD or other mental ill health, access to this full range was absent.⁶³ Trauma-related psychological therapies and cognitive behavioural therapy was lacking during the relevant period.⁶⁴ The Inquiry found that these psychological interventions should have been available.⁶⁵ This lack of the appropriate mental health care *"contributed to an environment that rendered those vulnerable detained people yet more vulnerable"*.⁶⁶ Findings were made about current day practice too; such flaws in the healthcare provisions remained at the time of the Inquiry's hearings in 2022⁶⁷ and that the changes introduced by Practice Plus Group (PPG), the healthcare provider at a number of IRCs, ⁶⁸ focused on the management of mental ill health and do not address significant concerns about the systemic and safeguarding deficiencies.⁶⁹

⁶⁰ Royal College of Psychiatrists (April 2021) Position Statement: The Detention of people with Mental Disorders in Immigration Detention PS02/21, page 3.

⁶¹ Royal College of Psychiatrists (April 2021) Position Statement: The Detention of people with Mental Disorders in Immigration Detention PS02/21, page 3.

⁶² Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 179 paragraph 17.

⁶³ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 179 paragraph 16.

⁶⁴ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 179 paragraph 17.

⁶⁵ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 179 paragraph 18.

⁶⁶ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 179 paragraph 18.

⁶⁷ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 180 paragraph 19.

⁶⁸ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 180 paragraph 20.

⁶⁹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 pages 180-181 paragraph 21.

The Inquiry found there was a "dismissive attitude of some Healthcare staff", the failure to fulfil safeguarding obligations and a failure to provide adequate healthcare all "exposed vulnerable detained people to a risk of suffering harm in detention", and in some cases, resulted in detained people's mental health deteriorating.⁷⁰ There were instances of mocking or derogatory remarks about and in the presence of, detained people. The Inquiry particularly noted a view amongst healthcare staff that a detained person was "exaggerating" symptoms, conditions or histories to further their immigration case, as well as a failure to recognise particular behaviours as a manifestation of mental ill health, rather than wilful disobedience.⁷¹

Our evidence shows the continued absence of appropriate treatment or inability to treat particular health conditions in detention, either because the treatment is not available in detention or any treatment that is available in detention is likely to be largely futile within the detention setting.

Beyond the Brook House Inquiry findings on healthcare, Medical Justice continues to find that healthcare professionals working within IRCs, including GPs, often do not identify and diagnose a range of our clients' mental health conditions. This is important as an individual with an unidentified or undiagnosed mental health condition would not be identified and provided with the appropriate treatment, even if available in detention. This is particularly problematic given the high prevalence of mental health conditions and given the harm that detention can cause, including as a causal factor in new mental health problems in people who were previously well. It is also concerning as the appropriate safeguards for those people would not be triggered.

3.1.1 Failure to identify or explore particular mental health conditions

According to client medical records, symptoms and diagnoses of mental health conditions are often missed or not further explored by IRC healthcare.

Of the 66 cases, Medical Justice clinicians diagnosed 34 clients with a mental health condition that was not already recorded in the client's medical records. The conditions included: PTSD, Complex PTSD, depressive disorders, psychotic disorders including schizophrenia, anxiety disorders, and acute stress reaction.

In some cases, symptoms of depression and anxiety were noted in the healthcare records and antidepressant medication offered, however this does not always lead to onward referral or trigger safeguarding processes, as explored in <u>Other mental health conditions</u>.

Missed PTSD diagnoses

Identifying those with PTSD in detention is crucial to safeguard the individual and prevent harm caused by detention. This is because people with PTSD symptoms are likely to have their condition aggravated by the detention setting and threats of removal, triggering reminders of the loss of agency and powerlessness that are strongly associated with the traumatic events that cause PTSD.

It is recognised that refugees and asylum-seeking people are at increased risk of PTSD. Given that large numbers of refugees and asylum-seeking people are detained, it is particularly important for healthcare staff to be able to recognise this condition. As avoidance forms part of a diagnosis of PTSD, without support, people with PTSD may avoid rather than discuss their history and current symptoms. Medical

⁷⁰ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 184 paragraph 30.

⁷¹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume I, HC 1789-II, Executive Summary page 10 paragraph 47.

Justice continues to call for healthcare clinicians to proactively seek to screen for trauma-related symptoms rather than rely on disclosure, ⁷² as per National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance. ⁷³

The Inquiry noted evidence of the frequent inability of healthcare staff to identify symptoms of trauma and PTSD, as explained above. Medical Justice found that the healthcare department explicitly considered the possibility of PTSD for only six of the 34 clients who had PTSD diagnosed by a Medical Justice clinician. For those six people, healthcare either confirmed the person had PTSD or stated that they required further assessment.⁷⁴ It was common in the other cases for symptoms of PTSD such as flashbacks, poor sleep and nightmares to be noted in the medical records but no exploration of the possibility of PTSD noted. There are also examples of *"trauma"* being noted in the medical records but PTSD is not identified or explored.

Medical Justice data also includes examples of Rule 35(3) reports stating that the individual "does not have mental health problems" but then describes symptoms of mental health issues such as poor sleep or refers to being "stressed when thinking about past events", an indicator that the person may be suffering from trauma-related symptoms and may have PTSD. This reflects evidence to the Inquiry that in their Rule 35(3) reports, GPs on occasion "sought to explain a conclusion that there was no concern regarding prolonged detention by reference to the absence of "acute mental health issues" or "psychotic features or acute deterioration"", even though psychotic symptoms are not core diagnostic features of PTSD, depression or anxiety.⁷⁵ The Inquiry found that the "absence of psychotic symptoms therefore could not be taken to be an indicator that harm was less likely" ⁷⁶

Lack of mental capacity assessments

Medical Justice's evidence shows that there is a lack of assessments of detained people's mental capacity even where there are clear indicators that the person may have difficulty with some decisions, for example the presence of relevant delusional beliefs. Where relevant symptoms are recognised, individuals are referred to the healthcare team and should receive assessment of their mental capacity. Where concerns about mental capacity are confirmed, this should trigger further support and safeguarding processes alongside management of the underlying condition.

However, out of the seven clients who were assessed as either lacking mental capacity or suspected lack of mental capacity, ⁷⁷ none of their medical records identified any concern from IRC healthcare about the clients' lack or suspected lack of mental capacity. This is resonant of Medical Justice's wider experience; that IRC healthcare teams may assess a detained person's capacity to make decisions related to their medical care but do not view it as their responsibility to assess capacity to make decisions in any other areas or to identify concerns in relation to this, and there is no mechanism for this to happen. If someone was identified as lacking capacity to make such decisions, there is still no process in place to enable them to access independent advocacy to advance their interests. (See <u>Safeguards for those lacking mental capacity</u>).

⁷² See Medical Justice (April 2022) Harmed not Heard.

⁷³ National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (August 2022) Post-traumatic stress disorder: When should I suspect post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)?

⁷⁴ For one person, healthcare referred to trauma but did not refer to PTSD explicitly. For an additional three people, there were insufficient medical records to decide.

⁷⁵ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 83 paragraph 34.

⁷⁶ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 83 paragraph 34.

⁷⁷ See High prevalence of detained people with mental health problems

3.1.2 Inability and failure to provide adequate treatment in detention

Medical Justice's evidence from the 66 MLRs shows how the Inquiry's findings of the absence of appropriate treatments for mental health conditions is likely to be ongoing, across the detention estate. It further shows - echoing the Royal College of Psychiatrists - that some mental health care is not effective nor appropriate to have in a detention setting.

PTSD

Those diagnosed with PTSD should be referred to a specialist, usually for trauma-focused cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) in line with NICE guidelines, which should be undertaken outside of detention setting. In some cases, another specialist treatment called Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing (EMDR) Therapy may be recommended.

However, access to psychological therapies is severely limited in detention, and even if treatment was available, our clinicians advised it was unlikely to be effective, because treatment of PTSD requires a safe and stable setting in which the person can address traumatic memories. This is in line with NICE PTSD guidelines to avoid treating PTSD in *"trauma-inducing environments"*.⁷⁸

Medical Justice had completed IRC medical records for 31 of the 34 people diagnosed with PTSD by Medical Justice clinicians. One person was offered low-intensity Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) in detention but was unable to fully engage with it, due to being detained. None of the others were offered any psychological therapy, and specifically were not offered the trauma-focused cognitive therapy or EMDR recommended in national guidelines.⁷⁹ For one person, the IRC psychiatrist explicitly recognised the person's need for trauma-focused therapy but noted that it is not available in detention. For another, the IRC GP recommended their release in a Rule 35 (3) report stating that *"Research has shown that PTSD is unable to be supported and treated adequately in a detention centre setting"*. Conversely, for another client, the IRC GP raised the possibility of PTSD in a Rule 35 (3) report and referred them to the mental health team, but concluded that their *"health needs can currently be met at the IRC"* (See <u>Rule 35 report guality lottery</u>).

Other mental health conditions

For those diagnosed with depression, Medical Justice clinicians recommended that in line with national guidance, they should be offered treatment matched to their clinical needs and preferences. For some clients with depression, clinicians stated that detention was not an appropriate setting to benefit from treatment for their depression. Clinicians also had concerns that individuals may have been prescribed anti-depressants in detention as the sole intervention, which failed to address their needs holistically and was unlikely to sufficiently address their symptoms in isolation.

Clinicians recommended that those diagnosed with schizophrenia should be released (or released for transfer to hospital where needed) as treatment was likely to have poor outcomes in detention, again failing to address their needs other than for medication.

Other examples of inadequate healthcare in detention included those discharged from the IRC mental health service without being seen, and/or had no follow up with the IRC GP after the mental health team did not accept their case after referral by the IRC GP.

⁷⁸ National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2021) <u>Post-traumatic Stress Disorder</u> paragraph 1.4.4.

⁷⁹ It was unknown if three clients were referred to trauma-focused therapy due to incomplete medical records. One client did not have trauma related symptoms in detention during their short stay in detention but was later diagnosed by MJ clinician with PTSD.

One client was told that he could not access therapy until he comes off ACDT, according to his medical records.

Shockingly, Medical Justice has seen an IRC GP suggest in a Rule 35(3) report that an individual would be more vulnerable outside of detention because of medical support available within, despite recognition of his mental health symptoms within detention. With detention being a harmful environment for those with mental ill health and the lack of adequate medical care and treatment inside detention as outlined above, it is very concerning that a GP would suggest the individual would be more vulnerable outside of detention.

Physical health conditions

In addition to inadequate care of mental health conditions, there are also examples of physical health conditions in the case set that were not treated or provided for in detention. This included Medical Justice clinicians recommending clients receive anti-viral treatment, treatment for asthma, a neuro-psychiatric assessment, and/or requiring referral to specialists such as rheumatology, the lipid clinic, neurology and infectious diseases and for, all of which clients needed but were not getting in detention.

Aaron raised concerns to Medical Justice about his access to and treatment by an IRC doctor: *"I* had a doctor's appointment after one week [in detention], but he never actually saw me. He said 'you are for [the] mental health team' but I had other health issues like my back pain".

3.1.3. Worrying culture of IRC healthcare in detention

Echoing the findings of the Brook House Inquiry, Medical Justice, in its daily casework with individuals in detention, continues to come across instances indicative of a worrying culture amongst IRC healthcare across the detention estate. This includes dehumanising language and behaviour towards detained people and disbelief of their mental and/or physical ill-health. This is indicative that the dismissive and unempathetic culture within healthcare that the Brook House Inquiry found, is still ongoing. Additionally, there are examples in the case set of disbelief or dismissive language used by staff around self-harm. See <u>ACDT and Constant watch not working and causing further harm.</u>

Mark experienced mocking behaviour from healthcare when he tried to harm himself.

"I refused to give the can to the officer, I was trying to harm my left hand with a can of red bull and two nurses were laughing. Then I got more frustrated, how can you laugh at this situation? We see this situation every day. How are you laughing when someone is trying to kill themselves?"

In his medical records, the healthcare staff member noted that Mark "then made allegations that I had laughed at him and his mental health (I had smiled at an officer)".

Aaron described the *"horrible conditions"* in detention which were *"like a prison"* and the dismissive and disbelieving treatment he experienced from healthcare staff.

"I became worse [in detention]... I had chest pain and when I went to the nurse she said 'why are you all coming for an ECG [Electrocardiogram] at this time'. It was hurtful to hear that. Imagine, how can you say that when you have an emergency somewhere and call the ambulance and they say 'why are you coming at this time?". He told Medical Justice "Even some nurses giving out medication said 'why are you all coming on my shift?'. Some staff there feel we deserve to be condemned." Following their MLR assessment, Medical Justice's clinician told healthcare that Aaron had already reported his chest pain to healthcare but that it remained uninvestigated. Only following this communication by Medical Justice, Aaron was booked to have an ECG and blood test.

Aaron told Medical Justice that at another time in detention he "twisted [...a] nerve or something because of the bed, which is like a coffin. I started limping, I couldn't put my feet on the floor... The [IRC] officers offered to carry me on their back because I was in terrible pain. I went to the doctor and saw him in the corridor and he said 'not this time, make an appointment'. One or two hours later the nurse saw me in that condition and took me to see the doctor. The doctor told me 'what's the matter now with you? I saw you earlier and you were walking just fine'. I was in terrible pain, what a cruel thing".

4. DETENTION SAFEGUARDS

4.1 The safeguarding system: the policy and legal framework

Highly vulnerable people, often with a history of trauma, have particular healthcare needs and are at a particular risk of harm in immigration detention. However, the lack of pre-detention screening results in many highly vulnerable individuals not being identified and subsequently routed into detention.

Medical Justice continues to find the Detention Gatekeeper (DGK) team - who review an individual's suitability for detention before they are detained - to be ineffective at identifying those at risk of harm in detention due to their vulnerabilities.⁸⁰ There continues to be no clinical pre-detention screening to seek to identify vulnerable people before they are detained.

Once in detention, an initial healthcare screening should be conducted by a nurse within two hours of arrival. Rule 34 of the Detention Centre Rules (DCR) 2001 then requires that detained people are offered an appointment with an IRC GP within 24 hours of arrival. At the appointment, the doctor is required to undertake a mental state and physical examination of their patient. The Rule 34 assessment has a dual function: (1) to promptly identify healthcare needs so that appropriate healthcare can be provided; and (2) to enable early identification of vulnerabilities and identify people who are at risk of suffering harm in detention so that they can be referred for a Rule 35 appointment which triggers a review of their detention and, if deemed appropriate by the Home Office, their release, promptly before harm materialises.⁸¹ Rule 34 and Rule 35 DCR 2001 are therefore interlinked safeguarding mechanisms.⁸²

Rule 35, as set out in the DCR 2001, is the key safeguarding mechanism which aims to identify those with particular vulnerabilities and bring them to the attention of the Home Office.⁸³ IRC GPs have specific reporting obligations to the Home Office under Rule 35 if the patient is identified as at risk in detention. A report under Rule 35 triggers the Home Office to review the individual's detention and decide whether to maintain detention or order the person's release.⁸⁴

Within detention, multiple safeguards are, in theory, in place to identify, protect and route vulnerable individuals out. Healthcare screening upon detention and Rule 34 appointments with the IRC GP within 24 hours of detention should enable vulnerable people to be identified at an early point in detention and refer them into the Rule 35 process. This process should enable healthcare to communicate vulnerabilities regarding risk of being injuriously affected, risk of suicide and victims of torture to the Home Office at any point in their detention triggering a review of their detention. However, in reality, these processes for not function properly in reality.

In response to Rule 35 reports, the Home Office assesses the individual's level of vulnerability according to the Adults at Risk (AAR) policy and reviews whether the person should remain in detention or be released. Indicators of vulnerability as set out in the AAR policy includes those with histories of torture, trafficking and sexual violence, those suffering from a mental health condition, and from PTSD.⁸⁵ Identifying these indicators of vulnerability as early as possible is vital to preventing and reducing the

⁸⁰ The Detention Gatekeeper works independently of both referring operational teams and detained casework teams to ensure individuals only enter immigration detention where detention is for a lawful purpose – Home Office, Detention General instructions.

 $^{^{\}rm 81}$ R (on the application of D and K) v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2006] EWHC 980 (Admin).

⁸² For more information on the link between safeguarding responsibilities of Rule 34 and Rule 35, see Medical Justice (April 2022) Harmed not Heard, page 15.

⁸³ <u>Rule 35</u> Detention Centre Rules 2001 (SI 2001/238).

⁸⁴ Detained people should be given a copy of their Rule 35 report automatically. If this does not happen, detained people can get a copy upon request.

⁸⁵ Home Office (updated 16 March 2022) Statutory Guidance Adults at risk in immigration detention.

harm caused by detention. The AAR policy provides that vulnerable individuals or adults at particular risk of harm in detention should not normally be detained and can only be detained when *"immigration control factors"* outweigh their indicators of risk.⁸⁶ There are three levels of evidence of risk.⁸⁷ Only persons with the highest level of evidence of risk of harm in detention (Level 3 evidence) would have the greatest protection against continued detention.

This policy requires detained people to not only provide evidence of their vulnerability in detention, but directs the Home Office to balance *"immigration control factors"* against the risk of harm to the vulnerable person when taking a decision about whether the vulnerable person would be released.⁸⁸ In practice, what the Home Office considers are *"immigration control factors"*, tends to outweigh the risk of harm and vulnerable people are kept in detention.

Another mechanism at the disposal of healthcare to communicate clinical concerns to the Home Office is a 'Part C' form.⁸⁹ There is a stark contrast between the Part C form and Rule 35 report. Crucially, a Part C does not require the IRC GP to explain any clinical assessment, or to include information concerning the impact of detention on the patient, or any specific level of detail concerning their vulnerability in detention. Additionally, receipt of this document by the Home Office does not require a review of detention and there are no obligations to provide a formal response. The Court has found that use of a Part C form is not an adequate substitute for a Rule 35(3) report and given the limitations of the clinical information required by the form there is no reason consider it would be generally appropriate to use in place of safeguarding reporting via Rule 35 processes.⁹⁰

In addition to clinical safeguards through Rule 35, there are custodial processes in place to prevent and *"manage"* self-harm and suicide risk in detention. This is through the use of ACDT, a system of observations (the highest level being constant watch) and regular reviews led by custodial staff.

4.2 Clinical and custodial safeguards: Inquiry and Medical Justice Evidence

The Brook House Inquiry found serious systemic failures within the safeguards provided by Rule 34, Rule 35 and the Adults at Risk policy.⁹¹ It found that a number of entire safeguarding mechanisms to be *"dysfunctional"* which resulted in a failure to protect detained people.⁹² Such *"wholesale breakdown"* of the detention safeguards was found to have likely caused actual harm to detained people.⁹³

The Inquiry also found a complete absence of a consistent mechanism for the routine follow-up of detained people who were considered to be victims of torture or adults at risk, including the failures to complete Rule 35 reports, the failure to detect or monitor deterioration, and an overall failure to notify the Home Office and trigger a detention review.⁹⁴

⁸⁶ This was introduced following the highly critical review by <u>Stephen Shaw in 2016</u>.

⁸⁷ The Adults at Risk policy contains three levels of evidence. The first evidence level (Level 1) is a declaration by the detained person about their medical or other aspects of their history that would indicate they had an indicator of risk. The second evidence level (Level 2) is where a professional person provided information that the detained person had indicators of risk. The third evidence level (Level 3) is evidence from a professional that the person fell within the categories of risk and detention would be likely to cause them harm.

⁸⁸ 'Immigration control factors' is defined widely and can include compliance issues such as having failed to agree to voluntary return, previous failure to comply with immigration bail conditions, restrictions on release from detention and conditions of temporary admission.

⁸⁹ This is an internal process which entails completion of a much shorter document form IS91RA Part C (risk assessment).

⁹⁰ R (on the application of Medical Justice and others) v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2017] EWHC 2461 (Admin).

⁹¹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 89 paragraph 47.

⁹² Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.1 page 4 paragraph 2.

⁹³ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter Ch D.5 page 86 paragraph 41.

⁹⁴ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 86 paragraph 41.

As a result, people were allowed to deteriorate in their mental and physical health and were failed by the very system that was designed to protect them.

Medical Justice's evidence shows the serious and continuing systemic failures in safeguarding of this population in detention at every safeguarding opportunity. This echoes longstanding evidence from Medical Justice, HMIP, the ICIBI and others of the flaws in clinical safeguards; such concerns have been repeatedly raised before, during and since the Brook House Inquiry.

Alan: psychotic disorder not identified by any detention safeguards

Alan ended up in immigration detention despite being severely mentally ill and unable to navigate the immigration processes he was subject to, indicating a total failure of the safeguarding processes both before entering detention and during his detention. His case illustrates how someone so demonstrably unwell in detention can fall through the cracks.

Alan did not have any contact with healthcare during his detention other than his healthcare screening where the nurse commented on his behaviour. He did not see an IRC GP at a Rule 34 appointment within 24 hours of detention or afterwards and did not have a Rule 35 report. After his healthcare screening, the only contact he had with a healthcare professional was an independent Medical Justice clinician. The clinician diagnosed him with a psychotic disorder and assessed him as lacking mental capacity to make decisions relating to his detention and immigration case.

It appears his ill-health was not picked up by any internal safeguarding mechanism at the IRC, despite him being sufficiently unwell for his solicitor to refer him to Medical Justice, who sent a clinician to carry out an MLR assessment in detention. The clinician diagnosed him with a psychotic disorder and assessed him as lacking mental capacity to make decisions relating to his detention and immigration case.

4.2.1 Defective initial healthcare screening

The Inquiry made damning findings on the healthcare screening in that it was effectively a tick box exercise.⁹⁵ It was *"sometimes the only appointment that occurred"* and *"was effectively treated as the examination required under Rule 34"*.⁹⁶

In Medical Justice's experience, the healthcare screening often fails to identify vulnerability. When a vulnerability is identified, this does not consistently lead to the doctor at the Rule 34 appointment to investigate this vulnerability or trigger a Rule 35 appointment.

⁹⁵ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 74 paragraph 12.

⁹⁶ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page74 paragraph 12.

4.2.2 Rule 34 failings

The Brook House Inquiry found *"significant deficiencies in the operation of Rule 34"* which were *"likely to have caused detained people to suffer actual harm"*.⁹⁷ These deficiencies included Rule 34 appointments not taking place, Rule 34 appointments so short that they were rendered inadequate, and mental health not being properly assessed at Rule 34 appointments.⁹⁸

It found that this "left vulnerable detained people in particular at risk of mistreatment, such as the inappropriate use of segregation and the rapid resort to use of force to manage incidents of self-harm and mental health crisis. It also meant that vulnerable people were detained when detention was not appropriate for them".⁹⁹

Samuel is a survivor of torture and sexual abuse and suffers from PTSD, depression and has significant anxiety symptoms. When he was detained, during the healthcare screening process, the nurse booked him to have a Rule 35 appointment *"for all the abuse he suffered"* and noted that he had medication for depression, PTSD and anxiety. The nurse referred him to the mental health team in the IRC. During his Rule 34 GP appointment, which took place the following day, there was no discussion about the Rule 35 appointment made or any indication that the GP asked or explored his disclosure of abuse or diagnoses of PTSD and anxiety, according to his medical records. This information would have identified him early on into detention as a vulnerable person, which should be communicated to the Home Office. Instead, he had to wait a further 16 days to have a Rule 35 appointment with the IRC GP.

Edward is a torture and trafficking survivor and suffers from suspected complex PTSD which required further assessment. When he entered detention, Edward already had a history of self-harm and suicide attempts, including in prison. His healthcare screening however recorded *"no history of deliberate self-harm in a secure estate"*. Edward saw the IRC GP for his Rule 34 appointment who noted *"no mental health issues identified"* in the medical records. One week after he was detained, Edward took a large and dangerous overdose of medication with the intention to take his own life. Later in his detention period, Edward was transferred to another IRC. Despite the information being documented in the healthcare records from the previous IRC, which would have been available to the new healthcare team, the healthcare screening failed to record that he had attempted suicide in the previous detention centre. Edward's medical records stated: *"no history of deliberate self-harm in secure estate"*. Edward's Rule 34 appointment the following day noted a history of depression and his medications but failed to note his suicide attempt in the detention centre he was transferred from, or the other vulnerabilities noted in his Rule 35 report.

⁹⁷ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 77 paragraph 21.

⁹⁸ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 pages 74-77 paragraphs 13-20.

⁹⁹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 77 paragraph 21.

The Inquiry found *"the problems [with Rule 34] persist"*¹⁰⁰ and Medical Justice's findings further evidences this to be the case to date.

Of the 66 clients, only 35 saw an IRC GP within 24 hours of arrival at an IRC. ¹⁰¹ Of those 35, 11 did not have any mental health examination noted in their medical records as part of their Rule 34 appointment. This included a client whose medical records show the IRC GP noted their anti-depressant medication but did not explore why they were already prescribed anti-depressants. In other cases, it was common that the IRC GP noted a physical health issue in their medical records but did not conduct a mental health examination, according to their medical records.

For those who had their mental health mentioned in their medical records, it was rare that they had a sufficiently detailed assessment to fulfil the safeguarding function of Rule 34. For example, medical records for the appointment only state "no" or "nil" mental health problems.

In one case, an individual disclosed in their healthcare screening that they were a victim of torture but at their Rule 34 appointment, the IRC GP noted that they had *"no mental health problems"* and no exploration of their torture history or impact on their mental health was noted. The Rule 34 appointment did not trigger a Rule 35 appointment and it was another 3 months before a Rule 35 (3) report was completed by the IRC GP.

In a case where their Rule 34 appointment did include a mental health assessment and mental health issues that indicate that detention would be harmful to the individual were noted, the GP failed to communicate their findings to the Home Office through a Rule 35 (1) report.

27 of the 66 people in the case set did not see a GP within 24 hours of arriving to the IRC. Of those 27, the number of days between being detained and seeing a GP ranged from 2 to 42 days. Shockingly, three people were not seen by a doctor at all during their detention, according to the medical records available to Medical Justice.

George was placed on ACDT due to the mental health symptoms he experienced while held in a previous establishment, prior to being transferred to an IRC. In his initial screening appointment at the IRC, he told healthcare that he did not need to see a GP. Consequently, his medical records shows that healthcare did not book him to have a Rule 34 appointment, despite his medical records showing he was on ACDT up to that point. There is no mention in his medical records of any discussion of the purpose of the Rule 34 appointment being explained.

Ten people did not attend their Rule 34 appointment. According to Rule 34, those who don't *"consent"* to having an appointment can subsequently request an appointment.¹⁰² However, none of the medical records noted that individuals were provided with an explanation of what the Rule 34 appointment was or the safeguarding purpose of it. Indeed, as explained above, Rule 34 and Rule 35 are linked safeguards. Those who did not attend their appointment or said they did not need to see a GP, therefore appear to not to have been properly informed of the safeguarding purpose of the assessment.

¹⁰⁰ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 78 paragraph 24. Also see Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 73 paragraph 10 and page 77 paragraph 22.

¹⁰¹ For 4 additional clients we had insufficient access to medical records to see whether they saw an IRC GP within 24 hours of arrival at an IRC.

¹⁰² <u>Rule 34</u> Detention Centre Rules 2001 (SI 2001/238).

More broadly, people with a range of mental health symptoms may avoid seeking healthcare due to anxiety or fear, beliefs about stigma, social and cultural differences in perceptions about mental health. Severe mental health problems may impact on motivation, self-care and judgement about seeking healthcare. In addition, a common response to traumatic events, and a symptom of PTSD, is to avoid talking about what has happened and the resulting symptoms. This means that people may not present for healthcare, including to their Rule 34 appointment.

4.2.3 Rule 35 failings

The Brook House Inquiry found "serious systemic failures [within the Rule 35 process], indicating a wholesale breakdown in the system of safeguards designed to protect vulnerable detained people".¹⁰³

The Inquiry's concerns included that there was no system in place to automatically review a detained person's health and welfare when they had self-harmed, made a suicide attempt or there was apparent deterioration in their mental health and no mechanism for GPs to systematically review the person's condition.¹⁰⁴

The Inquiry also found that in the relevant period, there was no systematic approach to using Rule 35(1) and Rule 35(2) and that such failure to complete Rule 35 reports resulted in detained people's mental health deteriorating and risk of self-harm and suicide increasing, leaving them more vulnerable to harm.¹⁰⁵ Although PPG have made some changes since, the Inquiry suggests that these have not been sufficient.¹⁰⁶ Sarah Bromley (the current National Medical Director for Health in Justice at PPG) herself told the Inquiry that the Rule 35 process was still failing at various points and that Rule 35(1) and Rule 35(2) in particular appeared to have been *"a little lost along the way"*.¹⁰⁷ Medical Justice's latest analysis and the Home Office's own data, detailed below, shows that this issue continues to persist.

Concerns were raised about the quality of Rule 35 reports and the lack of oversight mechanism in the Home Office to monitor both the quality of the Rule 35 reports and of the reasons why so many Rule 35 reports do not lead to the release of detained people.¹⁰⁸

The Inquiry also found that instead of Rule 35 reports, healthcare inappropriately used alternative mechanisms (such as the Part C form), that were "not designed for – and not capable of – adequately fulfilling the purposes of ensuring the safety and wellbeing of detained people and of notifying the Home Office of their vulnerabilities to ensure that their detention was reviewed".¹⁰⁹

Medical Justice continues to see examples of IRC GPs using Part Cs to communicate deterioration or concern rather than a Rule 35 (1) report, including at Brook House.

¹⁰³ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 86 paragraph 41.

¹⁰⁴ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 86 paragraphs 39.1 – 39.3.

¹⁰⁵ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 86 paragraphs 39.2 and 41.

¹⁰⁶ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 87 paragraphs 42.

¹⁰⁷ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 96 paragraph 62.

¹⁰⁸ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 89 paragraph 45.

¹⁰⁹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 89 paragraph 47.

Edward experienced a further deterioration in his mental health in the months following his attempt to take his own life in detention and asked healthcare to help. Healthcare sent two Part Cs to the Home Office to communicate healthcare's concern about his mental and physical health. However, an IRC GP failed to use the correct safeguarding mechanisms; this would be to complete a Rule 35 (1) report to communicate their concern about Edward's health, which is necessary to flag vulnerabilities to the Home Office and trigger a detention review. It took two weeks for the GP's concern to be communicated in a second Rule 35 (3) report, referred to by the GP as an *"addendum"* to the previous Rule 35 (3), which is the incorrect template for these issues.

As explained above, this is problematic as Part Cs do not trigger a detention review and do not require a formal response from the Home Office. In addition, where IRC GPs are completing Rule 35 (3) reports for torture survivors and have concerns that they are being or may be harmed in detention, Rule 35 (1) reports are not subsequently completed, which is the appropriate mechanism to do so.

Samuel told Medical Justice: "Rule 35 was an absolute disaster. He [the doctor that saw me] must have been on a timer bonus because within minutes he wants to get you out of the consultation room. He just says yeh yeh yeh you can go. He's uninterested in what you have to say... He took three minutes to do my first Rule 35 [report]".

The doctor completed a Rule 35 (3) report which contained a very brief summary about Samuel's account of torture and mental health symptoms of PTSD and depression. However, the report did not address the risk of harm of detention on his mental health or the lack of access for treatment for PTSD in detention and did not document the scarring on his body. After reading his Rule 35 report, Samuel told healthcare that he was not happy with the report as it contained inaccuracies. Healthcare arranged for him to have another Rule 35 appointment with a different doctor which took place seven days after his first Rule 35 appointment. His experience with this doctor was very different to the first: *"He was very thorough. He asked various questions, he checked me physically, looked at my scars, he felt my scars. He took the time, he did a lot more thorough work than the first doctor. It was a lot better and improved version from the first one [first Rule 35 appointment]." This shows an inconsistency in the quality of treatment of clients by IRC doctors; there seems to be a lottery in terms of the quality of clinical assessment and of Rule 35 report. See also Rule 35 report quality lottery.*

The second Rule 35 (3) report further recorded his torture account and documented Samuel's scars and contained information about the deterioration of his mental health in detention. The doctor also recommended that he should be released from detention, stating: *"Research has shown that PTSD is unable to be supported and treated adequately in a detention centre setting. I believe that he should be released from detention"*.

Despite both doctors documenting his PTSD symptoms and one stating that he should be released, both doctors should have also completed a Rule 35 (1) report with safeguarding concerns, which they did not do.

The Home Office's response to Samuel's Rule 35 (3) reports was very delayed. The Home Office did not respond to both reports until 22 working days after the second Rule 35 (3) report was sent by IRC healthcare. A month after his second Rule 35 report, Samuel was accepted as an Adult at Risk level 3 and as a torture survivor. The Home Office stated in its response to Samuel's Rule 35 report that it had already granted his release, pending *"suitable accommodation"*. Samuel described how he was shocked to find out he was granted release a week before the Home Office communicated with him.

Despite this, Samuel remained in detention for over four months after the Home Office's decision to release him. He told Medical Justice: *"Until now I feel desponded and pulverised"*.

Rule 35(1)

Medical Justice clinicians found high levels of harm to clients. Of the case set, detention had already caused the mental state of 64 clients to deteriorate and caused harm to all 66 clients by the time of their MLR assessment. See Levels of mental health deterioration and harm.

However, only 5 people had a Rule 35(1) report as they should have done.¹¹⁰ Four of the Rule 35(1) reports were completed in relation to a significant deterioration in their mental health in detention and one was completed in relation to their physical health issues and mental health deterioration. Significant deterioration included psychotic symptoms, significantly decreased nutritional intake, paranoia and refusal to take medication.

The IRC GP stated in all 5 Rule 35(1) reports that the person would or may benefit from release to access mental health care in the community or that prolonged detention will further harm their mental health.

Our evidence shows that Rule 35 (1) reports are not being completed for all those *"likely to"* suffer harm but that quite significant deterioration in their mental health or a physical health issue has to occur before one is completed, if at all. This is in clear breach of the rule, which has a low threshold designed to identify those who are *"likely to be injuriously affected"* by continued detention or the conditions of detention, so not requiring actual harm to already have occurred for a report to be required.

Only two of the 13 people who attempted suicide in detention had a Rule 35 (1) report completed. However, neither report mentioned their suicide attempt. In one case, the Rule 35 (1) report was not completed until several months after the suicide attempt. The report noted that the individual had suicidal thoughts but did not mention the suicide attempt or that they were on ACDT at the time of the report. ¹¹¹ None of the 17 who self-harmed in detention had a Rule 35 (1) report completed.

Rule 35(2)

Analysis of the 66 clients' MLRs showed that whilst in detention, 46 people were recorded as having had suicidal thoughts and 13 people were recorded to have attempted suicide. Medical Justice assessments also found that 43 clients' risk of suicide had increased since they had been detained. See <u>Self-harm and suicidality in detention</u>.

 $^{^{\}rm 110}$ Three were completed in Brook House, 1 in Yarl's Wood and 1 in Colnbrook.

¹¹¹ In the second case, it is not known if the suicide attempt was known to healthcare as it was not noted in their medical records.

Despite the high suicide risk, our evidence shows that Rule 35(2) - which requires IRC GPs to complete a report if they suspect *"suicidal intentions"* - is not an effectively functioning safeguard. Rule 35(2) reports are not being completed where there are clear grounds to suspect suicidal intentions. Where Rule 35(2) reports are completed, the assessment is often inadequate and incomplete, for example missing information such as a suicide attempt.

Only five of the 46 people who had suicidal thoughts and/or attempted suicide in detention had such a report. ¹¹²

This is particularly stark for the 13 who attempted suicide in detention, of whom only three had a Rule 35(2) report completed.¹¹³ Only two of the three reports noted the person's suicide attempt.

Of these three Rule 35(2) reports, only two were in response to a suicide attempt, one of which was only completed after the detained person's second suicide attempt, three months after their first suicide attempt. In the third case, the Rule 35(2) report was only completed following several self-harm episodes and no report had been completed in response to their suicide attempt several months earlier.

Given only *"suspicions"* of suicidal intent are required for a report to be required, it is also concerning that of the 17 that self-harmed in detention, only three had a Rule 35 (2) report completed.

Aaron: Torture survivor, suicidal thoughts and at risk of harm in detention with no safeguarding report completed

Aaron is a trafficking and torture survivor and suffers from significant trauma-related symptoms and depression. When Aaron was first detained in a STHF, he told the nurse that he suffers from anxiety and depression and takes anti-depressant medication. He also told healthcare that he has a history of self-harm and would attempt suicide if he was returned to the country he fled from. Healthcare put Aaron on ACDT and hourly observations at the STHF. When he was transferred that night to an IRC, Aaron told the nurse during the initial healthcare screening that his life was in danger in the country he fled from, and that he would attempt suicide if returned there. He remained on ACDT but was not referred for a Rule 35 (1) appointment. Aaron told Medical Justice that *"they kept my medication [at the IRC], so the first night [at the IRC] I did not have it"*.

Aaron saw an IRC doctor for his Rule 34 appointment the next day, who referred him to the mental health team for an urgent assessment as he was *"expressing suicidal thoughts"* and prescribed his medication. Despite this, the doctor failed to complete a Rule 35 (2) report for Aaron. As a result, the Home Office would not have been made aware of his suicide risk in detention and would not have considered Aaron's vulnerability or considered his release under the Adults at Risk policy as it should have done. After Medical Justice's clinician assessed Aaron in detention, the clinician came to the conclusion that detention had already caused Aaron to deteriorate in his mental state and caused him harm.

¹¹² Three Rule 35 (2) reports were completed in Brook House, one in Yarl's Wood and one in Harmondsworth.

¹¹³ In one case, it is not known if the suicide attempt was known to healthcare as it was not noted in their medical records.

They further found that his risk of suicide had increased since being in detention and was likely to further increase if he remained in detention. However, no Rule 35 (1) or (2), was completed by the IRC GP during Aaron's time in detention. Additionally, despite his having disclosed torture and indicating that *"his life was in danger in the country he fled from"*, no Rule 35 (3) was considered or completed.

Home Office statistics on Rule 35(1) and Rule 35(2)

The numbers of Rule 35(1) and Rule 35(2) reports that are completed have historically been, and continue to be, extremely low.¹¹⁴ The stark lack of Rule 35(1) and Rule 35(2) reports found by Medical Justice is in line with the Home Office's own statistics. In the year ending September 2023, of the 2,147 Rule 35 reports completed across all the IRCs, ¹¹⁵ only 49 were Rule 35(1) reports and only 15 were Rule 35(2) reports. ¹¹⁶ Therefore, of the total number of Rule 35 reports, only 2.28% were Rule 35(1) reports and 0.69% were Rule 35(2) reports. This is concerning given the evidence of high rates of vulnerability, harm, deterioration, and suicidality in detention.

This small proportion is not unusual; since 2015, the proportion of Rule 35 reports that are Rule 35(1) reports has fluctuated between 1.17% at its lowest point in 2020, and 4.11% at its highest in 2015. Between 2015 and 2022, the proportion of Rule 35(2) reports has fluctuated between 0.22% in 2019 and 1.49% in 2022. Although the proportion of Rule 35(2) reports has increased over 1% of all Rule 35 reports completed for the first time in 2022, the proportion is still negligible.

As explained above, the Brook House Inquiry found failures of healthcare in Brook House IRC to ensure that Rule 35(2) reports were appropriately completed. Following the evidence heard during the Inquiry hearings, the Home Office and NHS England wrote jointly to all IRC healthcare departments to explain their basic legal duties and functions in implementing the key safeguards in accordance with the DCR 2001, since it had become apparent that these are not universally understood nor properly carried out.¹¹⁷

The healthcare provider, PPG, gave further evidence in April 2022 that interim measures had been introduced requiring that when an ACDT is opened (to identify and support detained people at risk of self-harm and/or suicide), a Rule 35(1) appointment will be booked for the same or following day, and a Rule 35(2) appointment will be undertaken for all patients on constant supervision.¹¹⁸

Despite the Home Office and NHS England's letter, ¹¹⁹ and the interim measures introduced during the Brook House Inquiry ¹²⁰ (see <u>ACDT and Constant watch</u>), there has been no real change in the number of Rule 35(1) and Rule 35(2) reports. Home Office statistics reveal that the proportions are negligible. Of note, in the most recent quarter (July – September 2023), no Rule 35(2) reports were completed in Brook House IRC at all and only 2 Rule 35(1) reports were completed. ¹²¹ These negligible numbers are reflected across the IRCs, for example in Colnbrook IRC, no Rule 35(1) reports and only 1 Rule 35(2) reports were

¹¹⁴ See statistics since 2015 in Home Office and Immigration Enforcement (published 23 November 2023) <u>Transparency data: Immigration Enforcement data: Q3 2023</u> table DT_03.

¹¹⁵ Out of 16,363 people detained in the year ending September 2023. <u>Home Office national statistics: *How many people are detained or returned?* 23 November 2023.</u>

¹¹⁶ Home Office and Immigration Enforcement (published 23 November 2023) <u>Transparency data: Immigration Enforcement data: Q3 2023</u> table DT_03.

¹¹⁷ Phil Riley and Kate Davies, 1 April 2022, <u>HOM0332160</u>.

¹¹⁸ Third witness statement of Sarah Bromley, paragraph 3 <u>PPG000205</u>.

¹¹⁹ Phil Riley and Kate Davies, 1 April 2022, <u>HOM0332160</u>.

¹²⁰ Third witness statement of Sarah Bromley, paragraph 3 <u>PPG000205</u>.

¹²¹ Home Office and Immigration Enforcement (published 23 November 2023) <u>Transparency data: Immigration Enforcement data: Q3 2023</u> table DT_04.

completed.¹²² Given that these are the Home Office's own statistics, the Home Office would have been aware that the letter had not resulted in any change. In March 2023, Frank Ospina died by suicide, whilst detained in Colnbrook IRC.¹²³ During this month, there were also no Rule 35(2) reports completed for suspected suicide risk at all.¹²⁴

The Brook House Inquiry's report stated that the joint letter from the Home Office and NHS England was submitted one day before the Home Office director of immigration detention and escorting services was due to give evidence and was thus *"indicative of the superficial and cursory approach of the Home Office to addressing serious deficiencies in a dysfunctional system for which it is responsible"*.¹²⁵

Rule 35(3)

Given that Rule 35(1) and Rule 35(2) reports are not routinely completed, Rule 35(3) reports have in appropriately become the primary mechanism to identify those at risk of harm in detention.

As the Home Office's own statistics indicate, in the year ending September 2023, of the 2,147 Rule 35 reports completed, 2,083 reports were Rule 35(3) reports.¹²⁶ This is concerning as it only applies to those with a history of torture. Individuals without a history of torture will therefore not be identified; risk of harm cannot be considered by the Home Office caseworkers responsible for reviewing their detention.

Of the 66 clients in this case set, IRC GPs completed 55 Rule 35(3), with some clients having more than one Rule 35 report completed.¹²⁷

Six clients who had evidence of a history of torture documented in their MLR by Medical Justice, did not have a Rule 35(3) report completed in their most recent detention episode in an IRC.¹²⁸ One of those six had a Rule 35 (3) report completed in a previous detention and a Rule 35 update was requested by healthcare in this detention episode but the appointment never took place, according to the medical records available to Medical Justice.

Failure to document or inadequately document scarring in Rule 35 (3) reports

Documenting scarring, where present, in a Rule 35 (3) report is hugely important to a person's case and level of vulnerability in the eyes of the Home Office, as it is medical evidence of their torture account.

40 clients had scarring documented by the Medical Justice clinician that formed clinical evidence of their account of torture (See <u>Evidence of torture: Scarring</u>). Of those 40, four did not have a Rule 35(3) report completed in detention which would have given rise to the opportunity to document the scarring in the IRC. One person had their scarring documented in a Rule 32 (3) report ¹²⁹ in a STHF but did not have a Rule 35 (3) report in the IRC.

¹²² Home Office and Immigration Enforcement (published 23 November 2023) <u>Transparency data: Immigration Enforcement data: Q3 2023</u> table DT_04.

¹²³ Aaron Walawalkar (14 September 2023) Revealed: 'Mass suicide attempt' at immigration centre after detainee death Liberty Investigates.

¹²⁴ Home Office and Immigration Enforcement (published 24 August 2023) Transparency data: Immigration Enforcement data: Q2 2023 table DT_04.

¹²⁵ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 92 paragraph 53.

¹²⁶ Home Office and Immigration Enforcement (published 23 November 2023) Transparency data: Immigration Enforcement data: Q3 2023 table DT_03.

¹²⁷ The 55 Rule 35 (3) reports were completed for 50 clients. One person had three Rule 35 (3) reports completed in the same detention episode, and three people had two Rule 35 (3) reports completed in the same detention episode. Two additional people had a Rule 32 (3) report completed while they were detained in a STHF. This report was completed by a nurse, not a GP so is not included in the 55.

¹²⁸ This does not include those who had a Rule 35 (3) report done in a previous detention episode but not in the current detention episode or a Rule 32(3) report completed by a nurse while detained in a STHF. Rule 32 of the Short-Term Holding Facility Rules states that: by virtue of rule 32 a 'health care professional' may be either a registered medical practitioner or a registered nurse." Two had a Rule 32 (3) report documenting their torture in a STHF – including one age-disputed minor, prior to their detention at an IRC.

¹²⁹ Rule 32 is the equivalent to Rule 35 of the Detention Centre Rules 2001, for Short Term Holding Facilities. Rule 32 provides arrangements for the health care professionals in residential STHFs to report to the Secretary of State where they have concerns that: (1) an individual's health may be injuriously affected by their continued detention in a short-term holding facility or any conditions of detention; (2) an individual may have suicidal intentions; or (3) an individual may have been a victim of torture.

Under Rule 35(3), IRC GPs are obliged to provide "details of all scarring or other physical marks, psychological symptoms, physical disability or impairment".¹³⁰ The IRC GP should also comment on the "consistency of any physical (e.g. scars) and/or psychological findings with the detainee's allegations, including any evidence to the contrary".¹³¹

Despite these obligations, Medical Justice found that the quality of scarring documentation and clinical opinion on this varied in the Rule 35 (3) reports it analysed. The analysis included whether the IRC GPs document scarring at all, partially document scarring and whether they express an opinion on the consistency of the scarring with their account of torture and/or other ill-treatment.

In three cases, IRC GPs completing a Rule 35 (3) report failed to document any of the scars which were documented by the Medical Justice clinician in the clients' MLRs, stating for example *"no scars or wounds"* or no notes of either the presence of lack of scarring. One of the three failed to document scars in the first Rule 35 (3) and it was only after the individual complained and got another Rule 35 (3) report completed that multiple scars were subsequently documented.

In another case, the IRC GP notes that the individual says they were cut but does not document any scarring that was documented by the Medical Justice clinician.

An IRC doctor completed a Rule 35 (3) report for **Samuel**, a torture survivor, which stated that he *"did not have any scars"*. Samuel told Medical Justice: *"It was a trigger point for me when the [IRC] doctor said I don't have any scars. The [IRC] doctor did not even ask about scars"*. Medical Justice's clinician documented scarring on Samuel's body. After reading his Rule 35 report, Samuel told healthcare that he was not happy with the report as it contained inaccuracies.¹ Healthcare arranged for him to have another Rule 35 appointment with a different doctor. His experience with this doctor was very different to the first: *"He was very thorough. He asked various questions, he checked me physically, looked at my scars, he felt my scars"*.

Mark had a Rule 35 appointment with an IRC GP where a Rule 35 (3) report was completed. The doctor noted that Mark had *"no physical scars"* and did not include detailed information about his mental health. After seeing a copy of his report, Mark went directly back to healthcare as he was not happy with how the doctor reflected what he had told her and the report contained inaccuracies. Mark told Medical Justice: *"I was saying one thing and she [the Doctor] was writing another thing. She lied"*. Another Rule 35 appointment was made to take place the following week and healthcare told him that the appointment had to be with the same GP he originally saw, according to his medical records. After self-harming and being put in segregation, the same doctor who completed his Rule 35 report came to check on Mark; Mark said he wanted to talk to her about changes to the report. The doctor said she had reviewed his written comments and will update his report. Mark then showed the doctor the scars on his face. The amended Rule 35 report included more details about his torture account and mental health and documented the scars on his face.

¹³⁰ Section 5: Relevant clinical observations and findings, Rule 35 (3).

¹³¹ Section 6: Assessment, Rule 35 (3).

There are examples in the case set, of IRC GPs failing to document all visible scars in Rule 35 (3) reports when compared to those documented by the Medical Justice clinician. For example, in one Rule 35(3) report, the IRC GP states they cannot visualise where the individual had stated they had the scar, yet the Medical Justice clinician easily accessed this scar. Another example is where only scarring on the individual's head is noted in the Rule 35 report, and not those on the rest of their body which were documented by the Medical Justice clinician.

Not documenting relevant scarring which is present on the individual or not documenting all visible scarring results in a Rule 35 (3) report incorrectly understates the medical evidence. This can have a detrimental effect on the torture survivor's detention case in the eyes of the Home Office. This is because the Home Office caseworker has not been told of all physical evidence of their torture history.

In addition, the IRC GP uses a full-body diagram in a Rule 35 (3) report which is misleading and may be seen by the Home Office caseworker to indicate they did an examination of their entire body for scarring, when this is not the case.

Of those that had scarring documented in their Rule 35 (3) report:

- Seventeen people had their scarring and other injuries described by the IRC GP 132 as in keeping with their history or account of torture or mistreatment, reflecting the Medical Justice clinician's view in the clients' MLRs. 133 One person had their scarring described as "likely", for three it was described as "appears" or "may be consistent", and for nine it was described as "may be due to the history given".
- In four cases, the IRC GP does not state an opinion on the scarring. 134 This is concerning because it leaves the Home Office decision maker with no clinical opinion as to whether or not the scarring supports the torture account and they may not therefore consider this as evidence in their case.

It is not possible for Medical Justice to comment on the reasons an IRC GP does not document or fully document scarring or expresses an opinion or not about the consistency of scarring with the person's account of torture and/or other ill-treatment. However, clients have suggested they believe the issue is the time pressure on the GP. Whatever the reason may be, the high importance and weight the IRC GP's medical evidence carries in the eyes of the Home Office to base their decision regarding suitability in detention on, it is vital that this is addressed urgently.

¹³² IRC GPs are not required to assess scarring according to The Istanbul Protocol. See Office Of The United Nations High Commissioner For Human Rights, United Nations (2004) <u>The Istanbul Protocol: Manual on the Effective Investigation and Documentation of Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment</u>, Professional Training Series No. 8/Rev.1.

¹³³ One more person who had their scarring documented by a nurse in a Rule 32 (3) report also described it as in keeping with their history.

¹³⁴ For three of the four cases, the IRC GP states on opinion on the consistency "narrative" or "account" but not on the scarring and for one, there is no opinion on consistency of either the scars or narrative.

Mark has a history of torture and suffers from PTSD, anxiety and depression. During his healthcare screening upon his arrival in detention, Mark disclosed that he has a number of mental health conditions, a history of self-harm in detention, telling healthcare that he had *"wanted to die"* and a history of being on hunger strike. Healthcare referred him to the IRC Mental Health Team.". The IRC GP saw Mark for his Rule 34 appointment the next day, noting that he suffers from paranoia, anxiety and depression which *"only occurs when locked up"*. Despite this, it does not appear that the GP explored any further the impact of detention on Mark's mental health. Nor did the GP complete a Rule 35 (1) report. Additionally, there was no discussion of Mark's disclosure of previous self-harm and suicidal thoughts in detention noted by the GP in the medical records.

Mark was seen the following day by the Mental Health Team where he disclosed that he had been beaten up by the police in the past, *"hears voices"* and has panic attacks at night. Despite this disclosure, no Rule 35(1) report was discussed or completed. Several days later, he was taken to the segregation unit in handcuffs and told the officer that he *"would like a medication tablet/pill to end his life"*, as noted in his medical records. He was seen by the GP the following day in segregation. The records indicate that he raised 'no complaints', with the GP- it does not appear that the GP proactively explored his mental health, the events of the previous day or the impact of being in segregation on his mental health. No Rule 35 (2) report was completed.

Mark had a Rule 35 appointment with an IRC GP several days later where a Rule 35 (3) report was completed. However, Mark was not happy with the report as it contained inaccuracies and did not document his scarring. Healthcare booked him a second Rule 35 appointment, but on the day he was told that the doctor could not see him and he was directed to instead write down his concerns about his Rule 35 that the doctor would then review. In Mark's medical records, the doctor notes that he already had his Rule 35 appointment and *"a further appnt [sic] [is] not appropriate articularly [sic] given recent comments by [Mark]"*, referring to complaints by Mark that the doctor completing the report had "lied". Mark became very frustrated and argued with healthcare but was again told *"he wouldn't be seen due to the comments and statements he had made about the GP, but she would do the paperwork."*¹ Mark's medical records state that he became angry, shouted and was then removed from healthcare. Mark told Medical Justice *"she didn't want to see me"*.

A few hours later, Mark tried to harm himself. He was put on constant supervision, taken to segregation and then back to his room. The following day, Mark tied a ligature around his neck. Over the next few days, Mark became more unwell and repeatedly threatened to harm himself, stating that he was still not happy with the report. He was transferred to segregation with officers using force to hold his hands. In segregation, he swallowed a battery. Mark told Medical Justice that he was laughed at when he did this. His medical records show that he was transferred to A&E. On return to the IRC, Mark remained on ACDT but continued to deteriorate in detention, with several further attempts to harm himself and stating that he would kill himself. Mark told Medical Justice: *"I tried to hurt myself, they start laughing. I tried to jump off the stairs and there is a camera [so] they tried to help. Only one [officer] was kind. Sometimes I cannot sleep when I remember"*.

Mark was eventually given an appointment for a further amended Rule 35 report with a different doctor, whose report was more detailed and stated that he may be a *"victim"* of torture. The report also mentions Mark being on ACDT due to swallowing a battery. The Home Office accepted Mark as an 'Adult at Risk' in response to all three reports but did not change the Adult at Risk level in response to the amended reports, nor grant his release or accept his torture account due to not having *"evidence"* from his account to suggest that he was *"subjected to 'severe' pain or suffering"*.

After Medical Justice's clinician assessed Mark in detention, the clinician came to the conclusion that detention had already caused Mark to deteriorate in his mental state and caused him harm. They further found that his risk of suicide had increased since being in detention and was likely to increase if he remained in detention. Despite the clear deterioration in Mark's mental health in detention, numerous self-harm episodes and suicidal behaviour, the IRC GPs failed to complete any Rule 35 (1) or (2) reports.

Misuse of Rule 35 (2) and (3) to communicate harm

Medical Justice found that IRC GPs often completed Rule 35(3) reports in which they mentioned the risk of harm to the individual but did not subsequently complete a Rule 35(1) report to communicate this risk to the Home Office.

Of those who had a Rule 35(3) report, only two also had a Rule 35(1) report despite extensive evidence of the harmful impact that detention has on torture survivors. 135

More specifically, of the 55 Rule 35(3) reports completed:

- In 28 reports, the IRC GP stated that ongoing or prolonged detention will or may harm the individual's mental health. In three of those reports, the IRC GP recommended that the person *"should be released"* or *"would benefit from release"*. Only one was released as a result, though the Home Office response was delayed by 3 weeks.¹³⁶
- In six reports, the IRC GP stated in strong terms that ongoing or prolonged detention "will lead" to deterioration, "will affect" or "would be detrimental" to the individual's mental health. In an additional report, the GP stated that the individual's symptoms "are worsening in detention".
- In 19 reports, the IRC GP stated that ongoing or prolonged detention *"may be detrimental to"*, *"may exacerbate"* or *"deepen"* his mental health issues or symptoms, or that their mental health *"may"* or *"is likely"* to deteriorate.
- In four reports, the IRC GP stated "he [the detained person] has noted an increase in the severity of his symptoms since being detained".

 ¹³⁵ Royal College of Psychiatrists (April 2021) <u>Position Statement: The Detention of people with Mental Disorders in Immigration Detention</u> PS02/21, page 13; Bosworth M. (2016)
 Appendix 5: The Mental Health Literature Survey Sub-Review. Review into the Welfare in Detention of Vulnerable Persons: A Report to the Home Office.
 ¹³⁶ For one it was unknown as the Rule 35 (3) response is not available.

In one shocking case, a person who attempted suicide in detention and who was put on ACDT and constant watch, not only did not have a Rule 35 (1) or (2) report considered or completed but their Rule 35 (3) also did not mention they had attempted suicide.

Medical Justice also found a Rule 35 (2) report which states the harm detention is causing the individual, but no Rule 35 (1) report was subsequently completed by the IRC GP.

After **Edward** was discharged from hospital back to the IRC following an overdose in detention, an ACDT was opened but the IRC GP failed to complete Rule 35 (1) and (2) reports. As a result, the Home Office would not have been required to consider his suicide attempt and increased suicide risk in detention and would not have considered Edward's vulnerability or considered his release under the Adults at Risk policy. The Medical Justice clinician that assessed Edward in detention came to the conclusion that detention had already caused him to deteriorate in his mental state and caused him harm. They further found that his risk of suicide increased since being in detention and was likely to increase further if he remained in detention.

It took a further two months in detention before Edward first disclosed to healthcare that he had been tortured. Healthcare booked him a Rule 35 appointment however it did not take place until a month later. In the Rule 35 (3) report, in addition to documenting Edward's torture account and scarring from self-harm, the doctor stated that he recently took an overdose and that *"he should be released as his mental health will deteriorate further if held in detention"*. The doctor also noted that Edward *"exhibits symptoms of depression and PTSD"*. The IRC doctor again failed to complete a Rule 35 (1) report at this point.

Edward did not receive a response from the Home Office until 37 working days after the report was completed, during which time he was transferred to another IRC. Edward refused food, fluid and his medication in protest of not having a response. In the response to the Rule 35 (3) report that he eventually received, the Home Office stated that the delay *"was due to awaiting further information in relation to the harm risks in your case"*. The Home Office assigned Edward an Adults at Risk level 3 but did not find that his account met the definition of torture and did not grant his release, despite the doctor having recommended his release.

When he was transferred to the second IRC, Edward's health deteriorated further. He asked healthcare to help. Two Part Cs were sent to the Home Office to communicate healthcare's concern about his mental and physical health. Healthcare failed again to complete a Rule 35 (1) report to communicate their concern about Edward's health. After two further months in detention and increasing deterioration, a mental health nurse and GP advised to make an addendum to Edward's previous Rule 35 (3) report *"to say that his mental health is being affected being in detention"*. A second rule 35 (3) report was completed the same day stating that *"being in detention for this prolonged period of time has started to have a negative effect on his mental health…. Being in prolonged [sic] may have a significant impact on his mental health"*. There was no additional information added on his torture account which indicates that another Rule 35 (3) report was not required. Concerns raised about the harm detention was causing Edward should have been communicated using the Rule 35(1) mechanism.

The Home Office response to Edward's second Rule 35 report was also delayed. It took 11 working days for the response and it included no explanation for the delay. In the response, the Home Office decided to keep Edward in detention as *"appropriate measures are currently in place"*, referring to the use of ACDT and anti-depressant medication.

Three months in detention later, the GP notes in the medical records that Edward *"has been having fleeting suicidal thoughts at night"*, but again no Rule 35 (1) was sent to the Home Office despite this evidence of deterioration and increased risk of suicide.

Edward was in detention for 10 months and was consistently failed by safeguards throughout that time and in all three places of detention – a Short Term Holding Facility and two different IRCs. At no point did an IRC GP complete a Rule 35(1) or Rule 35 (2) report for Edward, despite him attempting to take his own life in detention and the IRC GP completing two Rule 35 (3) reports stating that detention was harmful to Edward, one of which recommended his release. His Rule 35(3) appointment was delayed, as was the response from the Home Office. Even when the IRC GP recommended Edward be released due to the harm detention was causing him, this medical opinion was outweighed by *"immigration factors"* in the eyes of the Home Office which decided to keep Edward in detention.

Rule 35 report quality lottery

Medical Justice also found other problems persist with the Rule 35 process in detention such as the varying quality of the assessment and completed report.

Medical Justice continues to have concerns about the quality of Rule 35 reports, which varies depending on the IRC doctor that writes them – making the quality of Rule 35 reports a lottery in terms of which IRC doctor a detained person sees for their Rule 35 appointment. For example, one IRC GP concluded in the report that a client with PTSD cannot be treated in detention and should be released, whereas another IRC GP concludes that the health needs of a client with PTSD can be met in detention. See Inability and failure to provide adequate treatment in detention - PTSD.

Another client told their Medical Justice clinician that they did not know their Rule 35 appointment was a Rule 35 assessment and did not know they were speaking to a doctor.

In its daily casework with people in detention, Medical Justice continues to come across instances of IRC GPs misusing certain phrases in Rule 35 reports such as *"no concerns"* about ongoing detention or their mental health, or that a person's *"health needs can be managed"* or *"met in detention"*, where those individuals have significant mental health issues such as PTSD. Indeed, we continue to see some IRC GPs finding significant mental health problems in circumstances where other IRC GPs are finding none.

Home Office Decision Making in Response to Rule 35 Reports

The Home Office must provide a response two working days after receipt of a Rule 35 report. Within the response, the Home Office assesses the individual's level of vulnerability according to the Adults at Risk (AAR) policy and reviews whether the person should remain in detention or be released.

In 31 cases, there was a delay of more than two working days for their response.¹³⁷ The shortest delay was 1 further working day and the longest was over two months.

A delayed decision – which may be a decision to release them - can have dire consequences for a person's health in detention and should be urgently addressed by the Home Office. This is because while waiting for the decision the person languishes in detention, at risk of further harm and deterioration.

Overall, of the Rule 35 responses for 41 people Medical Justice had access to, the Home Office designated one person at AAR level 1, 33 at AAR level 2, and 7 at AAR level 3. The Home Office took the decision to release seven people in relation to their Rule 35 report. Six were assigned AAR level 3 and one at level 2, indicating that it is very unlikely for the Home Office to decide to release those without level 3 evidence. ¹³⁸ These statistics are broken down by each type of Rule 35 reports:

Home Office decision making in response to Rule 35(1) reports:

The Home Office assigned AAR level 3 for at least three of the five clients with a completed Rule 35(1) report.¹³⁹ The Home Office decided to release all three; ¹⁴⁰ despite this, they all remained in detention for several months following the decision to release them, during which time the harm detention was causing them continued.¹⁴¹

Home Office decision making in response to Rule 35(2) reports:

Out of the five clients with a Rule 35(2) report, the Home Office assigned four clients as AAR level 2 in their response. The fifth client was assigned AAR level 3 in response to their Rule 35 (3) report and this was maintained by the Home Office in response to their Rule 35 (2) report.

The Home Office took the decision to maintain detention for three and release the other two. However, the decision to release them was based either on upholding the decision made by an Immigration Bail Judge prior to the report or not in relation to the Rule 35 (2) report.¹⁴² One of the two who were to be released remained in detention for almost a month after the decision had been made, and the other was released three days later.

Home Office decision making in response to Rule 35(3) reports:

As part of their decision, the Home Office considers whether the person's "claim of torture" meets the definition set out in the Detention Centre Rules. Torture is defined as: "Any act by which a perpetrator intentionally inflicts severe pain or suffering on a victim in a situation in which the perpetrator has control (whether mental or physical) over the victim and, as a result of that control, the victim is powerless to resist".¹⁴³

For 24 people the Home Office accepted that their account met the definition of torture above. ¹⁴⁴ It did not accept that the definition was met for 14 people. Explanations given by the Home Office included *"it*

¹³⁷ Of the 41 Home Office responses Medical Justice had access to

¹³⁸ Though not all who were assigned Adults at Risk level 3 received a Home Office decision for release.

¹³⁹ Medical Justice is unable to state the Adult at Risk level designated for the remaining two clients as their Home Office response was not available to Medical Justice.

¹⁴⁰ Medical Justice is unable to state the Home Office decision for the remaining two clients as their Home Office response was not available to Medical Justice.

¹⁴¹ The Home Office made the decision to release two in response to their Rule 35(1) report and in the other case, upheld a previous decision to release but who remained in detention waiting for approval by the Home Office of "suitable" accommodation.

¹⁴² The Home Office response stated that the decision was "unrelated" to the Rule 35 (2) report.

¹⁴³ <u>Rule 2</u> The Detention Centre (Amendment) Rules 2018 (SI 2018/411).

¹⁴⁴ For 9 clients, it is unknown if they were accepted as a torture survivor as Medical Justice did not have access to the Home Office's response to their Rule 35 (3) report.

For another, the response is incomplete, so it does not show whether the Home Office accepted them as a torture survivor or not but did include information about their Adult at Risk level.

was not clear you were powerless" or "powerless to resist", or "were not subjected to 'severe' pain and suffering". For example, it was not accepted that there was severe pain or suffering for someone who was beaten to the point of causing a brain bleed and other injuries requiring medical attention.

The Home Office considered 36 people¹⁴⁵ as an Adult at Risk in response to their Rule 35 (3) report.¹⁴⁶ One person was not considered an Adult at Risk in response to their Rule 35 (3) report as their account did not meet the definition of torture and no other vulnerabilities were raised in the report which would have qualified the person to be considered an AAR.

Five were assigned AAR level 3, 30 at AAR level 2 and one at AAR level 1.¹⁴⁷ The Home Office made the decision to maintain the detention of 33 people and release four people.¹⁴⁸ ¹⁴⁹ However, the decision to release one was based on upholding the decision made by an Immigration Bail Judge.

Despite the decision to release them, two people remained in detention for several months awaiting approval from the Home Office regarding *"suitable accommodation"*. One person was released within a week and another within 24 hours of the decision.

4.2.4 ACDT and constant watch: Disconnected and non-therapeutic processes

ACDT is the custodial process to manage detained people at risk of self-harm and/or suicide, including setting out their care plan. The Home Office provides that the ACDT process should be used to *"manage detained individuals who are identified to be at risk of suicide or self-harm"*.¹⁵⁰ The ACDT process consists of observations (the most frequent level being constant supervision) and regular reviews led by custodial staff.

A detained person can be put on constant supervision "to reduce a serious risk of them carrying out acts of self-harm or other behaviours which could lead to them accidentally or intentionally killing themselves".¹⁵¹ Constant watch is an extreme measure for those in immediate and acute risk of suicide. Crucially it is a member of custodial staff, not healthcare, who remains with the detained person. The safeguarding policy of Mitie, who are contracted by the Home Office to run Heathrow and Dungavel IRCs, acknowledges that "Constant supervision must only be used at times of acute crisis and for the shortest time possible. The process of being constantly supervised by a member of staff can be de-humanising which may increase risk".¹⁵²

Failure to always use the ACDT and constant watch processes

Medical Justice's evidence shows that not all people who our clinicians had identified as at risk of suicide or self-harm were put on ACDT. Only 22 of the 49 who were recorded in their MLR to have self-harmed,

¹⁴⁵ For those with multiple Rule 35 (3) reports, the Home Office kept their decision to consider them an Adult at Risk and did not change their Adult at Risk level from previous Rule 35 (3) reports.

¹⁴⁶ For 12 clients, it is unknown if they were considered an Adult at Risk or what level they were assigned as Medical Justice did not have access to the Home Office's response to their Rule 35 (3) report. For one additional client, the Home Office did not respond to their Rule 35 (3) report as the decision to release them had already been made.

¹⁴⁷ One person was assigned Adults at Risk level 1 due to their modern slavery claim rather than their torture claim, which was not accepted by the Home Office.

¹⁴⁸ An additional client was released before the Home Office response was sent and not in relation to their Rule 35 report

¹⁴⁹ It is unknown for 12 people what decision the Home Office made as their response was not available to Medical Justice. An additional person did not get a response for their Rule 35 (3) report as the decision was made to release them before a response was completed by the Home Office.

¹⁵⁰ Home Office (October 2022) <u>Detention Services Order 01/2022 Assessment Care in Detention and Teamwork (ACDT)</u> paragraph 9.

¹⁵¹ Home Office (October 2022) Detention Services Order 01/2022 Assessment Care in Detention and Teamwork (ACDT) paragraph 89.

¹⁵² Mitie Care & Custody (4 December 2022) Safer Detention Operational Instruction for Heathrow IRC and Mitie Care & Custody (July 2021) Safer Detention

Policy for Dungavel IRC. These policies were obtained by Medical Justice through a Freedom of Information Request, with reference number 76852.

to have had suicidal thoughts and/or to have attempted suicide were put on ACDT during their detention, according to their medical records. ¹⁵³ Some were put on ACDT more than once during their detention.

Of the 13 people who attempted suicide in detention:

- 12 were put on ACDT during their detention;
- Seven were put on ACDT following their suicide attempt, two¹⁵⁴ were already on ACDT when they attempted suicide and continued to be on ACDT following the suicide attempt; ¹⁵⁵
- One person was not recorded by healthcare as being put on ACDT at all during their detention, including following their suicide attempt.

15 of the 17 people who self-harmed in detention were put on ACDT during their detention.

Other failings found by Medical Justice in relation to ACDT include failure to open an ACDT for 11 days after an ACDT referral was made by a Home Office caseworker during an asylum interview and another client being told that he could only have therapy when he comes off ACDT, as per the medical records, and his treatment was therefore delayed.

Not all 13 people who attempted suicide were put on constant watch in relation to their suicide attempt. Of the 13, 11 were put on constant watch during their detention; eight of whom were put on constant watch in relation to their suicide attempt.¹⁵⁶

Medical Justice found evidence that constant watch is not working to safeguard against acts of self-harm or suicide. Shockingly, one person attempted suicide while on constant watch.¹⁵⁷ Healthcare raised a concern in their medical records about how this could happen while on constant supervision by a guard, and a Rule 35 (2) was then considered and booked. Another person was taken off constant watch and put on hourly observations before they attempted suicide. They were then put back on constant watch following their suicide attempt and a Rule 35 (2) report was considered and completed. Outside of Medical Justice's latest evidence, there have been past inquests into deaths that occurred while the person was supposed to be on constant watch.

Of the 17 people who were recorded to have self-harmed in detention, only 10 were put on constant watch.

Disconnect between ACDT, constant watch and clinical safeguards

The Inquiry found that there was not a holistic view which is needed in relation to self-harm and suicide risk and identified a disconnect between ACDT and the other safeguarding processes, which should work together to protect vulnerable people. As a result, these issues were found to have *"undoubtedly exposed vulnerable people to a risk of harm and caused actual harm to be suffered in some cases, as well as leaving*

 $^{^{\}rm 153}$ 28 people in the total case set were put on ACDT.

¹⁵⁴ One person who attempted suicide twice had an ACDT opened following their first attempt and remained on ACDT during their second attempt.

¹⁵⁵ One person was not put on ACDT following their suicide attempt and for two people, it was unknown as the suicide attempt was either not documented in the medical records or the medical records did not cover that time period.

¹⁵⁶ For two people, it was unknown if it was in relation to their suicide attempt either because the suicide attempt was not recorded in the medical records or the medical records did not cover that time period.

¹⁵⁷ The individual was kept on constant watch following their suicide attempt.

certain individuals susceptible to mistreatment". ¹⁵⁸ The Chair's view is that such disconnect is *"indicative of a system not fit for purpose"* ¹⁵⁹ and that the resulting risk of harm remains today.

One clear disconnect is between ACDT and the Rule 35(1) and Rule 35(2) processes. The Inquiry found that the lack of Rule 35(1) and Rule 35(2) reports, in comparison to the numbers on ACDT was *"indicative of a continuation of the serious failure in the safeguards"*. ¹⁶⁰ Sarah Bromley (the current National Medical Director for Health in Justice at PPG) suggested that a literal interpretation of Rule 35 could result in a Rule 35(1) for potentially everyone or a Rule 35(2) for anyone placed on ACDT, and thereby prevent the most vulnerable from being identified. Such explanation was found to be *"deficient and a further indication of an abdication of corporate responsibility"*. ¹⁶¹

The Inquiry's report raises concerns about relatively high numbers of ACDTs, episodes of constant watch, and incidents of self-harm, compared to extremely low numbers of Rule 35(1) and Rule 35(2) reports between January and October 2022, under Serco and PPG's management.¹⁶² The Chair states that she *"did not receive any satisfactory explanation for this discrepancy"* and that this indicates a continuation of the disconnect and a serious failure in safeguards to protect vulnerable people.¹⁶³

As explained above, in evidence to the Brook House Inquiry, Sarah Bromley confirmed that interim measures had been introduced in IRCs requiring that when an ACDT is opened, a Rule 35(1) appointment will be booked for the same or following day.¹⁶⁴

Within Medical Justice's case set, at least 23¹⁶⁵ of the 28 who was placed on ACDT in the case set, had it opened after the interim measure was confirmed on 5 April 2022, showing that this has not resulted in Rules 35(1) appointments being systematically booked or even considered following an ACDT being opened; Rule 35(1) numbers remain concerningly low ¹⁶⁶ Of those 23:

- Two people had a Rule 35 (1) report considered, though not on the same or following day the ACDT was opened and neither led to a Rule 35 (1) appointment being booked. For one of the two, a Rule 35 (1) report was considered after they had been on ACDT for a while but a report was not completed. The other had a Rule 35(1) report considered a few days after ACDT was opened but healthcare decided it was not needed.
- For the remaining 26 people, there was no record of consideration being given to a Rule 35 (1) report while on ACDT, according to their medical records.

Medical Justice also assessed whether those 23 people had a Rule 35 (2) appointment considered and/or completed. Of those 23:

• Five people had a Rule 35 (2) considered and completed but not immediately after an ACDT was opened: For two, it was completed after they attempted suicide, whilst on ACDT. For one person their Rule 35 (2) was completed after self-harming and subsequently being put on ACDT.

¹⁵⁸ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 pages 96-97 paragraph 63.

¹⁵⁹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 97 paragraph 64.

¹⁶⁰ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 95 paragraph 60.

¹⁶¹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 96 paragraph 62.

¹⁶² Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 95 paragraph 60.

¹⁶³ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 95 paragraph 60.

 $^{^{164}}$ Third witness statement of Sarah Bromley, paragraph 3 $\underline{\rm PPG000205}.$

¹⁶⁵ One person had an ACDT opened before 5 April 2022 but due to incomplete medical records available to Medical Justice, it is not known if another ACDT was opened after that time period.

¹⁶⁶ Two others had an ACDT opened before 5 April 2022 but remained in place after. Another two had an open ACCT in prison before being transferred to an IRC after 5 April 2022 and were on an ACDT at the IRC, however, the medical records do not note when the ACDT was opened and therefore it is not possible to say whether a Rule 35 (1) report was considered at that point.

- For three others a Rule 35 (2) report was considered though not immediately after an ACDT was opened but not booked or completed. For example, the medical records of one person note that a rule 35 (2) had been considered by healthcare after self-harming while already on ACDT but it was not deemed *"appropriate"* due to their observations being reduced from constant watch. For another person, the medical records note that a Rule 35 (2) was considered but not deemed *"applicable"* despite the person self-harming multiple times very recently, being on ACDT and on constant watch.
- For all others, there was no record ¹⁶⁷ of consideration being given to completing a Rule 35 (2) report when they were put on or during their time on ACDT.

The interim measures confirmed during the Brook House Inquiry by Sarah Bromley further required a Rule 35 (2) appointment to be booked for the same or following day when someone is put on constant watch.¹⁶⁸ However, this also has not been implemented consistently and has not resulted in significant increases in Rule 35(2) reports.

All 15 individuals in the case set on constant watch were put on after the interim measures were confirmed on 5 April 2022.¹⁶⁹ However, according to their medical records, only four of them had a Rule 35(2) appointment considered, two of whom also then had the appointment booked and a Rule 35 (2) report completed. Neither of them had a Rule 35 (2) appointment considered and/or booked when initially put on constant watch.

For the remaining 11 who were on constant watch, there was no note in their medical records of consideration being given to a Rule 35 (2) report.

Home Office statistics on ACDT and Constant Watch

The Home Office's own statistics mirror our findings. In the period covered by this report (June 2022 to March 2023), 773 ACDTs were opened across the IRCs¹⁷⁰ and constant supervision was opened 240 times for individuals being managed under ACDT.¹⁷¹ However, only 37 Rule 35(1) forms and only 26 Rule 35(2) reports were completed ¹⁷² during that period.

ACDT and Constant watch not working and causing further harm

The Brook House Inquiry highlighted that the ACDT process is not a clinical response and does not include any therapeutic interventions or clinical input into the management of the detained person.¹⁷³ As a prison-style response, it does not address the underlying psychological symptoms. It is a pure management tool, lacking clinical intervention.

Medical Justice agrees in the strongest terms with the Inquiry that ACDT and constant watch are custodial tools for staff to *"manage"* the risk of suicide and self-harm in detention. Neither processes are therapeutic or clinical, nor are they sufficient to deal with those who are actively suicidal or at risk of

¹⁶⁷ According to the healthcare records available to Medical Justice.

¹⁶⁸ Third witness statement of Sarah Bromley, paragraph 3 PPG000205.

 $^{^{\}rm 169}$ One was put on constant watch before and again after.

¹⁷⁰ This data is from Freedom of Information requests, obtained by Medical Justice, with reference numbers 76568, 72966, 75319, 76239.

¹⁷¹ This data is from Freedom of Information requests, obtained by Medical Justice, with reference numbers 76568, 72966, 75319, 76239. Note that this number does not necessarily equate to the number of individuals who have had a constant supervision opened against them whilst being managed under ACDT, as a constant supervision may have been opened for one individual on more than one occasion whilst being managed under ACDT.

¹⁷² The data for June 2022 is from a Freedom of Information request, obtained by Medical Justice, with reference number 71801. The data for 2022 Q3, 2022 Q4 and 2023 is from Home Office and Immigration Enforcement (published 24 August 2023) <u>Transparency data: Immigration Enforcement data: Q2 2023</u> table DT_03.

¹⁷³ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.5 page 94 paragraph 58.

suicide or self-harm. Given the high rates of self-harm, suicidal thoughts and attempts in the case set, it is clear from Medical Justice's evidence that ACDT and constant watch are not effective in managing those at risk or in triggering the appropriate safeguards and therapeutic interventions (see the rates of <u>Self-harm and suicidality in detention</u>).

Medical Justice's analysis found that individuals were put on and off ACDT and constant watch on several occasions throughout their time in detention and/or in response to multiple self-harm episodes and/or suicide attempts. The longest time someone was kept on an ACDT constantly was for over a year. This individual had no Rule 35 (2) completed and had one Rule 35 (1) completed during that time in relation to a physical health issue and deterioration in their mental health.

The fact that individuals who are so unwell in detention that they require long periods of ACDT or are put on and off ACDT and constant watch should indicate to IRC custodial and healthcare staff that the person requires urgent healthcare intervention as they may not be suitable for detention. This should be communicated to the Home Office through a Rule 35 (1) and/or Rule 35 (2) report triggering a review of detention. However, Medical Justice evidence shows that this is rarely being done and ACDT and constant watch are being used to contain the episodes of self-harm and/or suicide attempts in detention, rather than being used as an interim measure while healthcare communicates to the Home Office that the individual should be released from detention.

ACDT and constant watch can be highly intrusive. Indeed, Medical Justice also found examples in the case set of individuals' mental health worsening because of constant watch. While some people find ACDT intrusive, others report having found it supportive. **Edward** described his experience on ACDT at that IRC: *"On ACDT, staff come to check every hour, or stay with you continually. At that time I needed someone to look after me...my health was not very good. The security [officers] were helping me in [the IRC]. They have time to talk to you, we are human and they care."*

A more extreme example of the misuse of safeguards in the case set is of an individual who was put on constant watch after they self-harmed but medical records described that this was *"due to disruptive behaviour"*, rather than exploring clinical concerns. This may indicate a further example of the culture of disbelief surrounding self-harm in detention and that these intrusive measures may serve management or disciplinary purposes and fail as a safeguard. See also <u>Worrying culture of IRC healthcare in detention</u>.

4.4.4 Lack of identification and safeguards for those who lack mental capacity

Safeguards for those who lack mental capacity are severely limited. ¹⁷⁴ Yet, those who may lack mental capacity to make decisions about their immigration case and/or detention processes are at risk of suffering serious harm in detention. In 2018, the Court of Appeal found a wholesale failure on the part of the Home Office to ensure arrangements were in place to identify and safeguard people with severe mental ill-health and mental incapacity in detention. ¹⁷⁵ The absence of any measures to support those lacking mental capacity to understand their rights and access legal remedies was found to be unlawful. The Court directed the Home Secretary to take urgent steps to remedy this serious systemic lacuna. Such steps should include ensuring access to an independent advocate in detention.

The Brook House Inquiry has echoed this, finding the Home Office policy in the Detention Services Order 04/2020: Mental Vulnerability and Immigration Detention to be inadequate due to the absence of any

¹⁷⁴ Home Office (July 2023) Detention Services Order 04/2022 <u>Mental Vulnerabilities and Immigration Detention</u> instructs non-clinical staff on the process to follow for those who lack mental capacity.

¹⁷⁵ VC, R (On the Application Of) v The Secretary of State for the Home Department (Rev 1) [2018] EWCA Civ 57 (02 February 2018).

provision for independent advocacy for those who lack mental capacity. ¹⁷⁶ The Inquiry found that during the relevant period, the lack of independent advocacy provision caused harm. The Inquiry urges the Home Office to address this. The Inquiry also found that there were *"serious omissions in the system of safeguards to protect detained people who may have either a disability arising from mental impairment or a mental health condition, which failed D1275"*.¹⁷⁷ D1275 was detained at Brook House from May 2017 to June 2018 ; their severe mental ill health - which presented as *"erratic and strange behaviour"* as noted by detention staff - was not identified or managed and he received no mental health treatment, repeatedly being discharged from the mental health team because of non-attendance. The Inquiry found that there was no exploration by healthcare staff as to why he did not attend appointments and no evidence that D1275's mental capacity was considered or assessed by healthcare. When he was released, D1275 was diagnosed with schizoaffective disorder and assessed as lacking mental capacity and hospitalised under the Mental Health Act 1983.¹⁷⁸

In Medical Justice's experience, those who lack mental capacity to make decisions relating to their detention or immigration position are not identified and there is still no process in place to enable them to access independent advocacy to advance their interests. As explained above, out of the seven clients who were assessed as either lacking mental capacity or suspected lack of mental capacity, none of their medical records identified any concern from IRC healthcare about the clients' lack or suspected lack of mental capacity (see Lack of mental capacity assessments).

¹⁷⁶ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 207 paragraph 76.

¹⁷⁷ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 206 paragraph 73.

¹⁷⁸ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 page 205-206 paragraph 72.

5. USE OF FORCE

Force can be used on people detained under immigration powers, both by Detention Custody Officer in IRCs and by escort staff during removals. Rule 41 of the DCR 2001 provides that force shall not be used "unnecessarily", and that "no more force than is necessary shall be used".¹⁷⁹ Home Office policy permits force if it is "necessary", "reasonable" and "proportionate to the threat being faced or the intended aim".¹⁸⁰ The excessive use of force is unlawful.¹⁸¹ Where force is used, the detail of the use of force must be recorded and reported to the Secretary of State.¹⁸²

The perfect storm for the conditions that give rise to the abuse and mistreatment of vulnerable people continue to exist within in detention; these conditions include staff lack the therapeutic tools or resources to care for vulnerable detained persons, treating distressed behaviour as refractory, resulting in an inevitable recourse to coercive measures to manage mentally unwell detained people.

5.1 Use of force: Inquiry and Medical Justice findings

The Brook House Inquiry report raised a number of *"concerning themes"* regarding the nature of force used, the purpose for which it was used, whom it was used against, the monitoring and oversight and the rules currently in place governing the use of force in IRCs.¹⁸³ The report recognises that force is *"a coercive tool which, even if used correctly, carries a risk of injury"*.¹⁸⁴ The Inquiry found instances where force had been used to provoke and punish detained people.¹⁸⁵ De-escalation techniques were not always employed at all, or for long enough, and there were many incidents where force was used as a first, rather than a last, resort.¹⁸⁶

Unauthorised use of force techniques were found to be employed, including the practice of handcuffing detained people with their hands secured behind their back when seated, which creates a risk of restricting oxygen to the person and thereby causing serious injury or death (referred to as 'position asphyxia'). This practice had been removed from the Use of Force Training Manual in 2015 after the unlawful killing by guards of Mr Jimmy Mubenga in 2010.¹⁸⁷ Authorised techniques were in some instances found to have become *"dangerous due to their incompetent application"*.¹⁸⁸

Force was inappropriately used against naked or near-naked detained people.¹⁸⁹ Force was used inappropriately against people who were mentally and/or physically unwell; in such circumstances, it was often unnecessary and disproportionate in type and duration given the person's health condition.¹⁹⁰ Healthcare were found to have failed in their safeguarding role and instead, actually *"facilitated the use of force"*.¹⁹¹ The Inquiry raised concerns about healthcare staff not understanding their safeguarding role

¹⁷⁹ <u>Rule 41</u> Detention Centre Rules 2001 (SI 2001/238).

¹⁸⁰ Home Office (2022) <u>Use of force: Guidance for Immigration Enforcement Officers Version 3.0</u> 6.

¹⁸¹ Home Office (2022) Use of force: Guidance for Immigration Enforcement Officers Version 3.0 6.

¹⁸² <u>Rule 41</u> Detention Centre Rules 2001 (SI 2001/238).

¹⁸³ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 138 paragraph 17.

¹⁸⁴ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 146 paragraph 33.

¹⁸⁵ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 138 paragraph 18.

¹⁸⁶ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 142 paragraphs 26-33.

¹⁸⁷ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 139 paragraphs 20-21 and page 141 paragraph 25.

¹⁸⁸ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 140 paragraphs 22-23.

¹⁸⁹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 pages 149-151 paragraphs 43-46.

¹⁹⁰ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 154 paragraph 55.

¹⁹¹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 154 paragraph 55.

in the context of use of force on a detained person, emphasising that healthcare staff have a duty to intervene or declare a medical emergency, and to instruct restraints or force to be immediately stopped, in certain circumstances.¹⁹² The Inquiry Chair states that she remains concerned as to whether the deficiencies relating to the role of the healthcare staff in use of force incidents have been addressed.

The Inquiry found it to be common that force was used as a response to, and a way to manage, symptoms of mental-ill health. For example, there was a *"routine and quick resort to force in response to incidents of self-harm"*.¹⁹³

The monitoring and oversight of the use of force in the relevant period was found to be *"inadequate"* and as a result, to have *"led to dangerous situations for detained people and staff"*.¹⁹⁴ The serious failings included the absence of senior management ¹⁹⁵, the failure to activate body worn cameras or a failure to film ¹⁹⁶, inaccurate, undetailed or missing use of force reports ¹⁹⁷, debriefs that were *"cursory and demonstrated a complete lack of reflection"* ¹⁹⁸, and a lack of a proper review process or overall governance system.¹⁹⁹

The Inquiry found that governing the use of force in immigration detention by a prison service order (a policy for prison and probation professionals) is inappropriate as IRCs have a different purpose and type of population; it therefore does not take the detained population's needs, circumstances or vulnerabilities into account.²⁰⁰

The Inquiry therefore recommends that a new detention services order addressing the use of force is introduced, as a matter of urgency. The Inquiry sets out that this new detention services order must set out the justifications for the use of force in detention, the circumstances in which force can be used against people with mental ill-health, and provisions for the monitoring, oversight and reporting of the use of force by contractors and by the Home Office.²⁰¹ It further recommends that Home Office to urgently commission an independent review, with the power to make recommendations, of the use of force on detained people with mental ill health, ²⁰² as well as the urgent improvement of use of force reviews.²⁰³

Of the 66 clients, seven of their MLRs mentioned that they were subjected to the use of force and/or restraints whilst in detention. This took place at Colnbrook, Yarl's Wood, Brook House and Harmondsworth IRCs.

Force and/or restraints were used in the context of forced removal to the airport, transfer to segregation, removal from suicide netting and for transfer to external hospital appointments. For torture survivors, the use of force can be a terrifying re-enactment of past abuse.

¹⁹² Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.8 pages 190-201 paragraphs 43-61.

¹⁹³ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 155 paragraph 58.

¹⁹⁴ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 158 paragraph 65.

¹⁹⁵ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 158 paragraph 66.

¹⁹⁶ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 164 paragraph 78.

¹⁹⁷ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 pages 164-5 paragraphs 79-83.

¹⁹⁸ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 page 165 paragraph 84.

¹⁹⁹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 pages 166-173 paragraphs 87-104.

²⁰⁰ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.7 pages 151-152 paragraphs 47-53.

²⁰¹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Recommendation 15.

²⁰² Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Recommendation 16. For full details of what the review should consider, see Recommendation 16.

²⁰³ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Recommendation 17

Three of the seven people had injuries attributed to force used on them documented by the Medical Justice clinician, all of whom required medical treatment. One person was diagnosed by the Medical Justice clinician with acute stress reaction in response to the force used on them in detention.

5.2 Further external evidence

Beyond Medical Justice's case set, there has been recurrent evidence of the ongoing concerning or excessive, use of force across the detention estate. From the end of July until December 2020, leading up to the UK's withdrawal from the European Union, there was a large-scale compressed programme²⁰⁴ of charter flights removing people to European countries. Documents obtained through the Freedom of Information Act reveal that officers used force, including pain-inducing restraint which deliberately causes pain to gain compliance, to prevent self-harm on 62 occasions from July to December. ²⁰⁵ Guards using force remained on duty, despite being *"effectively uncertified"* in the safe use of restraint techniques. Those subjected to the use of force included suicidal asylum seekers. The IMB found that the combination of the effects of the compressed charter flight programme, the high level of vulnerabilities and the complex needs of the detained people, led to a *"dramatic increase in levels of self-harm and suicidal ideation" and reciprocal deficiencies in the detention safeguards. The IMB described the compressed charter flight programme as creating created the circumstances in Brook House IRC to amount to "inhumane treatment of the whole detainee population by the Home Office".²⁰⁶*

More recently, evidence has emerged of instances of force being used in June 2022, ahead of the scheduled flight to Rwanda.²⁰⁷ The 2022 Annual Report of the IMB Charter Flight Monitoring Team (CFMT) revealed that some of these instances may have been excessive. The CFMT observed the scheduled flight to Rwanda and noted that two people were subjected to the use of force whilst on the plane and in their seat belts. The report described that *"The two started to scream out their fear and distress, each trying to hurl his torso and head backwards and forwards. Each was still in his WRB [waist restraint belt], and each was seated with an escort on either side, his arms tightly held, his head controlled by an escort facing him. The legs of one had been 'secured'".²⁰⁸ The CFMT concluded that <i>"the head control on one man may have involved excessive pressure".²⁰⁹* Their report highlights the distress impact of the use of force: *"There was nothing the two men could physically do, except possibly hurt themselves and the head controls were continuously applied to prevent this. The men's actions were sustained over more than 20 minutes up to the moment when the senior escort on board announced that the flight was cancelled".²¹⁰*

Evidence of the misuse of force has also been highlighted in 2022 reports following HMIP inspections in Derwentside, Brook House and Colnbrook IRCs, mirroring the evidence heard in the Brook House Inquiry. This included a case where inappropriate techniques were used by some staff²¹¹, a case where force was used against a detained person who was not fit to be detained²¹², and a case where force was initiated

²⁰⁴ Responses to requests sent by Liberty Investigates under the Freedom of Information Act show that there were 22 charter flights from Brook House IRC between July and December 2020. See Aaron Walawalkar, Jessica Purkiss, Eleanor Rose and Mark Townsend (26 December 2021) <u>Revealed: Guards Used Force On Suicidal Asylum Seekers After</u> <u>Training Had Expired</u>, Liberty Investigates and The Guardian.

²⁰⁵ Aaron Walawalkar, Jessica Purkiss, Eleanor Rose and Mark Townsend (26 December 2021) <u>Revealed: Guards Used Force On Suicidal Asylum Seekers After Training Had Expired</u>, Liberty Investigates and The Guardian.

²⁰⁶ Independent Monitoring Board (2021) Annual Report of the Independent Monitoring Board at Brook House IRC for reporting year 1 January 2020 – 31 December 2020.

²⁰⁷ Lizzie Dearden, Aaron Walawalkar and Eleanor Rose (5 September 2022) Documents Show Asylum Seekers Were Forced Onto Plane And Restrained, Liberty Investigates.

²⁰⁸ Independent Monitoring Board (June 2023) <u>Annual Report of the Independent Monitoring Boards' Charter Flight Monitoring Team For reporting year 1 January 2022 – 31 <u>December 2022</u> paragraph 3.2.7.</u>

²⁰⁹ Ibid

²¹⁰ Independent Monitoring Board (June 2023) <u>Annual Report of the Independent Monitoring Boards' Charter Flight Monitoring Team For reporting year 1 January 2022 – 31 December 2022 para 3.2.7.1.</u>

²¹¹ HMIP (July 2022) <u>Report on an unannounced inspection of Colnbrook Immigration Removal Centre by HM Chief Inspector of Prisons (28 February – 18 March 2022)</u> 23.

²¹² HMIP (23 September 2022) Report on an unannounced inspection of Brook House Immigration Removal Centre by HM Chief Inspector of Prisons (30 May – 16 June 2022) 23.

without "sufficient de-escalation".²¹³ The IMB CFMT found that some instances of use of force was "questionable".²¹⁴ For example, one Zimbabwean was "not released from his WRB until five hours after take-off, seemingly because of his perceived defiant manner by refusing to communicate with anybody", despite not being obliged to.²¹⁵ The CFMT noted that they were "not confident risk had been continuously reviewed or that it was necessary to keep him in his WRB for so long".²¹⁶ It is also important to note that the misuse of force is often under-identified. As the Inquiry found, neither the IMB nor HMIP identified the abuses shown by undercover footage from the Panorama programme, and it is not necessarily surprising that monitoring bodies would not directly witness such abuse.²¹⁷

Recent concerns have also been raised regarding filming and record keeping of uses of force, reflecting the Inquiry's findings. HMIP also found that the systems of collecting and storing video and paperwork were *"not properly organised, making it difficult to track incidents"*.²¹⁸ Body-worn camera footage was not available for all use of force incidents reviewed. Overall, record keeping of use of force was *"poor"*; there was *"no systematic process for collating all footage and paperwork after an incident"*.²¹⁹ The failure to film all incidents of force and poor record keeping was also raised by the IMB CFMT. They observed that not all incidents were filmed on a charter flight to Zimbabwe.²²⁰ They further highlighted the poor reports on the use of restraint and force, including in the lead up to the scheduled Rwanda flight.

The concerning use of force is reflected across the detention estate as evidenced by documents obtained through a Freedom of Information request regarding Manston Short-Term Holding Facility from October 2022.²²¹ These reveal evidence of concerning use of force and incidents of staff working for a private security contractor on site, Interforce, using force but apparently completing no documentation after such restraint. For private security staff to use force despite not having the necessary training, accreditation and qualifications poses dangerous risks for the detained people involved. If performed incorrectly, use of force techniques can have devastating consequences. Not completing use of force forms is extremely concerning because it prevents accountability, means abuse is not detected and lessons cannot be learned.

²¹³ HMIP (23 September 2022) <u>Report on an unannounced inspection of Brook House Immigration Removal Centre by HM Chief Inspector of Prisons (30 May – 16 June 2022)</u> 24.
²¹⁴ Independent Monitoring Board (June 2023) <u>Annual Report of the Independent Monitoring Boards' Charter Flight Monitoring Team For reporting year 1 January 2022 – 31</u>
<u>December 2022</u> para 3.2.11.

²¹⁵ Independent Monitoring Board (June 2023) <u>Annual Report of the Independent Monitoring Boards' Charter Flight Monitoring Team For reporting year 1 January 2022 – 31</u> December 2022 para 3.2.11.

²¹⁶ Independent Monitoring Board (June 2023) <u>Annual Report of the Independent Monitoring Boards' Charter Flight Monitoring Team For reporting year 1 January 2022 – 31 December 2022 para 3.2.11.</u>

²¹⁷ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.11 page 303 paragraph 3.

²¹⁸ HMIP (December 2022) Report on an unannounced inspection of Derwentside Immigration Removal Centre by HM Chief Inspector of Prisons (8 – 25 August 2022) 3.

²¹⁹ HMIP (December 2022) Report on an unannounced inspection of Derwentside Immigration Removal Centre by HM Chief Inspector of Prisons (8 – 25 August 2022) 24.

²²⁰ Independent Monitoring Board (June 2023) <u>Annual Report of the Independent Monitoring Boards' Charter Flight Monitoring Team For reporting year 1 January 2022 – 31 December 2022 para 3.2.9.</u>

²²¹ Lizzie Dearden, Aaron Walawalkar and Eleanor Rose (4 February 2023) <u>Asylum Seekers at Manson were Handcuffed, Restrained and Struck, Internal Docs Show</u>, Liberty Investigates.

6. SEGREGATION

Home Office policy stipulates that segregation may be used in the interest of safety or security under Rule 40 of the DCR 2001, or to manage actively violent detainees under Rule 42 of the DCR 2001. When deciding if someone should be put in segregation, their Adults at Risk Level, if they have one, or concerns about mental capacity, must be *"taken into account"* in the decision.²²² Those at risk of suicide or self-harm must only be put in segregation in "exceptional circumstances", *"for the shortest time possible"* and as a *"last resort"*.²²³ Additionally, Rule 40 and 42 should not be used *"to manage detained individuals with serious psychiatric illness or presenting with mental health problems"*.²²⁴

Under Rule 40, a detained person can be held in segregation for an initial period of up to 24 hours, but this may be extended to a maximum of 14 days.²²⁵ Under Rule 42, a detained person can be held in segregation for up to 24 hours and this may be extended for up to 3 days after written direction from an officer of the Secretary of State.²²⁶

Once the decision has been taken to put someone in segregation, a Medical Practitioner must be notified *"without delay"*.²²⁷

Medical Justice has long documented the devastating impact of segregation on our clients and the misuse and over-reliance of segregation in detention. Our evidence has highlighted the unlawful use of segregation as a form of punishment, the use of segregation to manage those with mental health disorders and those at risk of self-harm and the indiscriminate use of segregation as a means of aiding removal, all which contravened the DCR 2001.²²⁸ Our latest analysis and the Brook House Inquiry findings show that little has changed.

6.1 Segregation: Inquiry and Medical Justice findings

The Brook House Inquiry recognised how segregation restricts the liberty of detained people and has a potentially harmful impact on those segregated.²²⁹ It found that there was a widespread lack of understanding about who could authorise the use of Rule 40 and Rule 42, which was perpetuated by inadequate training during the relevant period and this problem was found to persist under Serco's current contract.²³⁰ This misunderstanding was found to be amongst senior staff too.²³¹

Restrictions under Rule 40 and Rule 42 were found to be inappropriately used, including as a punishment (which is not a permissible use²³²), ²³³ for pure administrative convenience²³⁴, and to manage people

²²² Home Office (September 2020) Detention Services Order 02/2017 Removal from Association (Detention Centre Rule 40) and Temporary Confinement (Detention Centre Rule 42) paragraph 30.

²²³ Home Office (September 2020) <u>Detention Services Order 02/2017 Removal from Association (Detention Centre Rule 40) and Temporary Confinement (Detention Centre Rule 42)</u> paragraph 34.

²²⁴ Home Office (September 2020) Detention Services Order 02/2017 Removal from Association (Detention Centre Rule 40) and Temporary Confinement (Detention Centre Rule 42) paragraph 31.

²²⁵ <u>Rule 40(3)</u> and <u>Rule 40(4)</u> Detention Centre Rules 2001 (SI 2001/238).

²²⁶ <u>Rule 42</u> Detention Centre Rules 2001 (SI 2001/238).

²²⁷ <u>Rule 40(5)</u> and <u>Rule 42(6)</u> Detention Centre Rules 2001 (SI 2001/238).

²²⁸ See Medical Justice (2015) <u>Secret Punishment: The misuse of segregation in immigration detention</u>.

²²⁹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.6 page 113 paragraph 22.

²³⁰ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.6 page 133 paragraphs 24-26.

²²¹ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) <u>The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II</u>, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.6 page 125 paragraph 56.

²³² Rule 40 and Rule 42 cannot be used as a punishment, as set out in Rule 42(1) and the DSO para 29.

²³³ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.6 pages 118-119 paragraphs 34-37.

²³⁴ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.6 pages 119-121 paragraphs 38-44.

with mental ill health (contrary to clear mandatory guidance)²³⁵. The Inquiry found evidence of Rule 40 and Rule 42 still being used for administrative convenience under Serco at Brook House.²³⁶

The Detention Centre Rules 2001 provide that the use of Rule 40 and 42 must be *"recorded"*.²³⁷ When someone is segregated under Rule 40 or 42, the following must be notified: a member of the visiting committee (namely the IMB)²³⁸, the medical practitioner, ²³⁹ the manager of religious affairs ²⁴⁰, and the Home Office Detainee Escorting and Population Management Unit. ²⁴¹ However, the Inquiry raised concerns about the reporting and oversight of the use of Rule 40 and 42 within the contractor ²⁴², Home Office, IMB and HMIP, and noted that the issues may be persisting today.

Within Medical Justice's case set, 14 people were put in segregation during their detention. Some of them were put in segregation more than once and for several days. The longest length of time in segregation was two weeks. One person was put in segregation four times during their detention.

Some were on ACDT while they were in segregation, and some were on constant watch and ACDT.

One client who was put in segregation was assessed by a Medical Justice clinician as lacking mental capacity. Two further clients who were put in segregation were identified by a Medical Justice clinician as possibly lacking mental capacity, requiring further assessment.

Force and restraints were used in some cases to transfer clients to segregation and in other cases, the clients were described in medical records as going *"voluntarily"* to the Care and Separation Unit (CSU), another name for segregation.

Medical Justice also found an example of IRC healthcare not being told that an individual had been moved to CSU, according to their medical records.

6.1.1 Reasons clients were put in segregation

The reasons noted in the medical records explaining why the 14 people were put in segregation varied from disciplinary action for *"behaviour"*, apparent logistical reasons such as for removal from the UK and for *"safety"* reasons following self-harm or suicide attempts in detention.

The most common reason recorded in medical records was "for good order and discipline", which was a term used to describe those that had "disruptive", "aggressive" or "angry" behaviour or actions. One person was described in the medical records as having "misbehave[d]". It is important to note that behaviour rooted in ongoing and untreated mental health issues is often mistaken as confrontational behaviour and managed through the use of segregation.

Medical Justice found very concerning examples of clients with severe mental health conditions such as psychosis put in segregation due to their *"behaviour"* in detention. This included clients diagnosed by a Medical Justice clinician with possible learning difficulties and autistic spectrum disorder, psychotic

²³⁵ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.6 pages 121-125 paragraphs 45-55.

²³⁶ Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.6 page 121 paragraph 44.

²³⁷ <u>Rule 40(8)</u> and <u>Rule 42(7)</u> Detention Centre Rules 2001 (SI 2001/238).

²³⁸ <u>Rule 40(5)</u> and <u>Rule 42(6)</u> Detention Centre Rules 2001 (SI 2001/238).

²³⁹ Ibid

²⁴⁰ Ibid

²⁴¹ Home Office (September 2020) <u>Detention Services Order 02/2017 Removal from Association (Detention Centre Rule 40) and Temporary Confinement (Detention Centre Rule 42)</u>.

²⁴² The monitoring of the use of Rule 40 and 42 by G4S at the time, was found to be "plainly inadequate" due to a failure to identify and act upon any the significant issues. See Kate Eves, Chair of the Brook House Inquiry (19 September 2023) The Brook House Inquiry Report Volume II, HC 1789-II, Chapter D.6 page 127 paragraph 60.

symptoms, or a psychotic illness. The individual with a psychotic illness was noted in the medical records to be told to *"behave appropriately"* when they were put in segregation.

For others it was for *"non-compliance"* or their reaction to custodial staff attempting to move them elsewhere within the IRC ahead of removal. Others were moved to segregation in preparation for their transfer to hospital or for their Removal Directions.

There were also examples of segregation used in response to the person self-harming, attempting suicide or threatening suicide. Medical records state that in these cases, segregation was *"for their own safety"* or to *"provide better support"*. One person asked staff to be put in segregation to protect them others in the IRC.

6.1.2 Impact of segregation

Segregation has been associated with worsening symptoms of depression, severe anxiety, psychotic symptoms and exacerbation of PTSD. Suicidal thoughts and risks of suicide are also increased. In the context of asylum seekers suffering from PTSD, for instance, it can precipitate or intensify the traumatic memories of flashbacks of their past mistreatment and increase their feelings of powerlessness.

In this case set, clients were severely impacted by being detained in the segregation unit, as noted in their medical records or recounted by clients and recorded in their MLR. This included increased suicidal thoughts, a deterioration in their mental health, feeling *"isolated"*, *"lonely"* and/or *"anxious"*, feeling *"very low"*, feeling *"like no one cares"*, crying and *"making [them] go crazy"*. A Medical Justice clinician described segregation as causing *"significant psychological distress"* to a client and a worsening of their mental health symptoms. One client told Medical Justice that segregation reminded them of being in prison.

Some clients self-harmed or threatened to self-harm in response to being put in segregation. Others continued to refuse food and fluid in protest of segregation and their removal directions.

Aaron told Medical Justice about his harrowing experience in segregation:

"Some managers used force, threatened me. [For example] when I asked for help to let me go to have a doctor's appointment, they prevent[ed] me to go there. I asked the manager to help me to go there and instead of helping, to mute me, to mute my voice they used force and took me in isolation. They took my shoes off, my jacket off and left me on the cold floor for 3 days. I was completely isolated. I was having difficulty to breathe, I was anxious. They left me without medication there. The main [guard] came and I asked him for 'help, I can't breathe'. He came inside and said 'you can breathe just fine here'. I could breathe for a moment but I was there 24 hours [a day]. I suffered from close environment [claustrophobia] I need fresh air. Even the main manager came and said 'you are fine because the nurse saw you'. It was the same nurse who said 'why you coming for ECG'. The nurse did no medical checks, nothing. She didn't come in. She only saw me from outside the door with eye contact. It was a bad joke. Treating me like a dog." Aaron told Medical Justice "I couldn't bear it anymore". He refused to eat food for four days. A different doctor visited him because he was becoming more unwell, who was "nice" to him. **Mark** told Medical Justice he was put into segregation five times during his detention and was told "the reason is to keep you safe. To keep you safe there are special rooms, [and] constant watch. [But they were] punishing me to keep me 'safe'. You can't see them harm you, they are not going to come up to you and do it [physically]."

Segregation gravely impacted Mark's mental health. One of the times he was taken to segregation in handcuffs he told the officers he *"would like a medication tablet/pill to end his life"*, according to his medical records. Another time, he swallowed a battery whilst in segregation. Mark told Medical Justice that he was laughed at when he did this. His medical records show that he was then transferred to A&E.

6.2 Further external evidence

Beyond Medical Justice's case set, the reports following inspections by both the IMB and HMIP have revealed a concerning use of segregation of vulnerable detained people. HMIP's 2022 report on Brook House IRC, highlighted two cases in particular, stating: *"we looked at two cases where the justification for separation was poor, both involving the segregation of the victim of an assault. It was a concern that the unit had held a number of detainees with poor mental health, including at least one who was considered unfit for detention"*.²⁴³

In their 2022 annual report on Brook House IRC, the IMB noted use of Rule 40 was higher in 2022 compared to the previous year, and the average time individuals spent on Rule 40 had also substantially increased.²⁴⁴ The report raised concerns about the use of Rule 40 in situations where they did not believe such use to be justified²⁴⁵ and the use of Rule 40 for prolonged periods as a means to manage *"unpredictable or otherwise problematic behaviour"* of detained people with serious mental health issues²⁴⁶. The IMB criticised the pre-emptive use of Rule 40 for people who *"might not comply with removals"* and found that on occasion, there was not sufficient justification for this. Similarly in their report on Heathrow IRCs, the IMB *questioned "the use of segregation at all for detainees exhibiting behaviour which appeared to be rooted in ongoing mental health issues"*.²⁴⁷ In Yarl's Wood IRC, the IMB noted numerous incidents of detained people being placed under Rule 40 separation for non-compliant or aggressive behaviour and raised concern that the use of rule 40 was becoming a default option.²⁴⁸

<u>1 January – 31 December 2022</u> page 11.

245 Ibid

<u>1 January – 31 December 2022</u> pages 27 and 39.

 ²⁴³ HMIP (23 September 2022) Report on an unannounced inspection of Brook House Immigration Removal Centre by HM Chief Inspector of Prisons (30 May – 16 June 2022) 12.
 ²⁴⁴ Independent Monitoring Board (2023) Annual Report of the Independent Monitoring Board at Gatwick IRC/RSTHF For reporting year

²⁴⁶ Independent Monitoring Board (2023) Annual Report of the Independent Monitoring Board at Gatwick IRC/RSTHF For reporting year

²⁴⁷ Independent Monitoring Board (2023) <u>Annual Report of the Independent Monitoring Board at Heathrow Immigration Removal Centre For reporting year 1 January 2022 – 31 December 2022</u> page 26.

²⁴⁸ Independent Monitoring Board (2022) <u>Annual Report of the Independent Monitoring Board at Yarl's Wood IRC and RSTHF For reporting year 1 January – 31 December 2021</u> page 17.

7. CONCLUSION

The clinical evidence of the experiences of the 66 people in this report shows that many of the same circumstances that were behind the abuses in Brook House, continue to exist across the detention estate. The Brook House Inquiry provided a forensic analysis of how the abuse uncovered by *Panorama* in 2017 occurred. It exposed failures, mistreatment and indifference at every level; from nurses and doctors, IRC staff, to Home Office civil servants. Light was shone on the structural deficiencies in detention safeguards and processes around use of force, segregation and responses to self-harm and suicidal thoughts.

These fundamental frameworks are still the same as they were in 2017. We have not seen evidence of any significant or material improvements.

This report demonstrates that people who have mental health conditions and histories of trauma, torture and trafficking, making them particularly vulnerable to detention, continue to be detained. The mental health of detained people continues to be harmed and deteriorate in detention. The safeguarding system remains ineffective and dysfunctional, with low numbers of Rule 35(1) and (2) reports, low release rates and a focus on custodial rather than clinical responses to self-harm and suicidality. Segregation continues in clinically inappropriate circumstances and concerning instances of force has been widely documented. All the failings documented in this report have taken place after the Inquiry's public hearings, across the detention estate.

The detention of a population with high rates of vulnerabilities in a prison environment, risks causing harm through damage to their mental health, inadequate safeguarding procedures, experiences of force, clinically inappropriate use of segregation, and experiences of dismissive and derogatory attitudes. Ultimately, detention remains a wholly unsafe environment.

8. RECOMMENDATIONS

Medical Justice sets out the following recommendations to the Home Office and government more widely:

- 1. We agree with Kate Eves's request that the government to appoint a Senior Civil Servant who has direct responsibility for monitoring the response to each of the 33 recommendations in the Brook House Inquiry's report.²⁴⁹
- 2. We urge the government to promptly address all 33 of the Inquiry's recommendations. This is the only meaningful way to ensure that the mistreatment and abuse, including the breaches of Article 3 ECHR, do not happen again.
- 3. We call on the government to issue an apology to those who experienced abuse in its care at Brook House IRC and elsewhere. To have any real meaning, an apology must be accompanied by the necessary changes to ensure that no one else is abused or harmed in immigration detention like this again.
- 4. Rather than expanding the use of detention, we agree with the British Medical Association²⁵⁰ that the only solution is to phase out detention and consider credible alternatives (as identified by UNHCR). This must be done urgently.

²⁴⁹ Kate Eves (19 October 2023) Letter to Rt Hon Rt Hon Suella Braverman KC MP, Secretary of State for the Home Department.

²⁵⁰ British Medical Association (2017) Locked Up, Locked Out.

